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Department of Housing 
 and Works

Our Vision 
Responding	to	the	hopes	of	all	Western	Australians	for	their	housing	
and	construction	needs.	

Our Mission
Leading	in	the	provision	of	housing	services	and	development	of	a	
built	environment	which	contributes	to:

supportive,	vibrant	and	sustainable	communities;

a	robust	economy;

strong	regional	development;	and	

the	natural	environment

for	the	benefit	of	all	Western	Australians.

Our Role
We	are	playing	our	part	in	building	a	better	community	by:

providing	and	supporting	housing	for	Western	Australians	who	
cannot	otherwise	afford	their	own	homes	by	arranging	affordable	
housing	finance,	rental	housing	and	land	(delivered	through	the	
housing-related	agencies);

delivering,	managing	and	maintaining	non-residential	government	
buildings	in	Western	Australia;	and

providing	policy,	legislation	and	regulation	of	community	housing	
and	the	building	and	construction	industry	in	Western	Australia.	

•
•
•
•

•

•

•
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FOR	THE	YEAR	ENDED	
30	JUNE	2007

To	the	Hon	Michelle	Roberts	
MLA	Minister	for	Housing	and	
Works.

In	accordance	with	Section	61	
of	the	Financial Management 
Act 2006,	I	hereby	submit	
for	your	information	and	
presentation	to	Parliament,	
the	Annual	Report	of	the	
Department	of	Housing	and	
Works	for	the	financial	year	
ended	30	June	2007.

The	Annual	Report	has	been	
prepared	in	accordance	with	
the	provisions	of	the	Financial 
Management Act 2006.	

R.	J.	Mitchell
Director	General
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What we do

Our Role
We play a key part in helping build stronger 
communities by providing and supporting 
housing for people who might not otherwise 
be able to afford it. 

Our other main activities involve delivering, 
managing and maintaining non-residential 
government buildings and infrastructure across 
Western Australia. These can include schools, 
hospitals, facilities and essential services in 
Aboriginal communities, sporting facilities and 
police stations. 

We also manage government offices around 
Western Australia and provide expertise and 
policy advice to the Government on legislation 
and issues affecting community housing and 
the State’s building and construction industry.

The Department also manages Fremantle 
Prison. The prison is one of Western Australia’s 
iconic heritage sites, and was the first place in 
WA to be included on the National Heritage 
List.

We have more than 1,000 staff working across 
the State to help achieve these goals. 

Our Department has been restructured over 
the past year and as part of that process we are 
firmly focused on three strategic intentions:

More people in housing

Improving Aboriginal communities

Improving building and 
infrastructure

1.

2.

�.

 

   

Improving 
Aboriginal 
communities

Improving 
building and 
infrastructure

More people in 
housing

NB: This annual report deals with the Works 
functions of the Department of Housing and 
Works (that is, the areas of construction, property 
management, maintenance and building industry 
development). 

The housing-related functions of the Department 
are detailed in separate annual reports put out by 
the Housing Authority and the Country Housing 
Authority. For more details of this organisational 
structure, see page 12. 

4
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The last year has been one of 
unprecedented activity and 

challenges – for the economy, the 
Department and our staff.

The construction and housing industries 
in Western Australia are at record highs, 
with demand outstripping supply. 
This presents a great challenge for the 
Department because it has resulted in 
significant increases in building costs. It 
has also again led to reductions in the 
number of contractors tendering for 
capital works projects. 

And with the Government’s record 
capital works program, we’ve been 
busier than ever in our four core areas 
of construction, maintenance, property 
management and building industry 
development.

For instance, there’s been a 50 per cent 
increase in the number of projects we 
manage that are worth more than $10 
million – the Department managed 64 
such projects last year, compared to 41 
the previous year.

On a wider scale, that means in the 
coming year we’ll manage a total 
project value of approximately $4 
billion.

These include landmark buildings 
in Perth such as the Fiona Stanley 
Hospital, the Perth Arena, and the new 
performing arts venue in Northbridge.

We’re also having a big impact on 
communities all over the State, as we 
work with government departments to 
facilitate major building programs that 
will bring new schools, police stations, 
major upgrades of hospitals, and new 
sports facilities.

Other key roles we undertake include 
managing office accommodation for 
government agencies; carrying out 
millions of dollars’ worth of repairs and 
maintenance; and working with the 
building industry to implement energy 
efficiency standards for new housing.

But we are not just involved in building 
and maintaining public works. We are 
also in the process of building and 
shaping a new Department. 

The Department underwent a major 
restructure under the Machinery of 
Government legislation that came into 
effect on 1 July 2006.

The changes mean that the 
Government Employees’ Housing 
Authority (GEHA) and the State Housing 
Commission combined to become 
the Housing Authority, which is still 
supported by the Department (and will 
detail our housing functions in its own 
annual report).

Director General’s 
Report
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... continued
Director General’s Report
Because of the changes, we have taken the 
opportunity to review our strategic direction 
and approach for the next three to five years.  
With this refined focus, it is our aim to return 
significant benefits to our community. 

Our new direction was outlined in the 
Statement of Strategic Intentions and Priorities 
which I released last year, and used to 
reshape the Department by building capacity, 
competencies, and more clearly defining our 
purpose and direction.

It also outlined the direction I intend to take the 
Department over the next few years: having 
more people in housing, improving Aboriginal 
communities, and improving buildings and 
infrastructure.

This year, following a strategic planning 
seminar, we entered our second phase of 
transition by updating that blueprint to place a 
greater emphasis on meeting the demands and 
needs of our customers.

As well as this internal realignment of our 
Department, we are also undergoing an 
Organisational Effectiveness Review, designed 
to identify greater savings and efficiencies in 
the way we deliver the State’s housing, building 
works and office accommodation needs.

In undertaking this ambitious agenda for 
change, we must ensure that we work 
collaboratively with Government, the 
community and the private sector to ensure 
that what is delivered satisfies our clients’ needs 
and represents value for every taxpayer dollar 
spent.

It is our intention to ensure that the people 
who rely on the Department’s services, our 
clients, are the key focus of our attention. In all 
our dealings, we must put ourselves in their 
place and ask ourselves if we would be satisfied 
with the services we have provided. 

Our renewed focus represents a major 
opportunity to introduce changes that will 
provide significant benefits to the community 
of Western Australia. 

... And the key to this success lies with our 
staff. 

Our management group must provide the 
leadership that ensures our core values, new 
structures, processes and ‘ways of doing 
business’ become embedded in the culture of 
our new organisation.

We must also adequately invest in staff 
development, training and recruitment to help 
people reach their full potential.

Most of all, we all need to strive to make this 
Department a place we are proud of, proud of 
its achievements and proud of the part that 
we play in our business of building a better 
community. 

We are looking forward to the challenge.

R. J. Mitchell 
Director General
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Construction
We managed a building works program 
of $462 million total client turnover for 
2006-07. This was a large increase – of some 
43 per cent – on the figure of $324 million 
total turnover for 2005-06, and the $320 
million turnover in 2004-05.  

The major government departments of 
Education and Training, Health, Corrective 
Services, and Police had unprecedented 
building programs in 2006-07. Projects 
included hospitals in Denmark, Fitzroy 
Crossing and Rockingham; health campuses 
in Broome and Busselton; the Kwinana High 
School; Ellenbrook and Comet Bay Middle 
Schools; the Midland Police Operations 
Support Facility; and prison upgrades at 
Bandyup and Bunbury.

We identified opportunities for better 
coordinating and managing multiple 
projects in Fitzroy Crossing to achieve 
efficiencies in the use of consultants and 
contractors, and address the effects of the 
projects on the communities. The works 
on the schools, hospital, police station and 
housing are in various stages of delivery.

Progress on landmark projects in Perth 
include:

completion of the Perth Arena forward 
site works project. Tenders for the 
construction of the works were awarded 
to BGC Construction in June 2007; 

•

the Fiona Stanley Hospital architectural 
design contract was awarded to 
a consortium of local consultant 
companies; and

the Northbridge performing arts centre 
forward works contract was due for 
completion in mid-2007.

The Department streamlined its tender 
award process to provide a quicker and 
more efficient process. This incorporates 
several initiatives such as builder financial 
due diligence, a tenders review committee 
and changes to the selection of consultants 
to period consultancy panels.

Cabinet approved the Department’s 
Business Case Navigator in March 2007, 
which will significantly enhance budget 
control in building projects for government 
agencies and reduce requests for additional 
funding for unexpected increases in costs. 
The Business Case Navigator supports the 
Strategic Asset Management Framework.

•

•

Executive 
Summary

Highlights

Perth Arena Siteworks
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Property Management
In 2006-07, we administered 397 leases 
for government tenancies in 312 privately 
owned buildings. We also managed 90,380 
square metres of government-owned 
office space in 19 multi-tenanted buildings 
controlled by the Minister for Housing and 
Works.

We prepared a strategic office 
accommodation plan for the greater 
Perth metropolitan area for release in early 
2007-08 and have begun work on a similar 
strategic plan for regional areas.

Fremantle  Prison won the Major Tourist 
Attraction award at the State Tourism 
Awards held in November 2006. It also 
won a gold medal in the Adventure 
Tourism category for its Tunnel Tours, and 
a silver medal in the Culture and Heritage 
category.

Despite a general decline in the tourism 
market, Fremantle Prison also attracted a 
record number of visitors – 174,842 people. 
This was an increase of more than 17.1 per 
cent on the previous year.

•

•

•

•

Maintenance and Minor 
Works  

In 2006-07, we managed $123 million of 
services in the metropolitan area and $70 
million on behalf of various government 
agencies in regional Western Australia.

In 2006-07, as part of the procurement 
efficiencies, a Whole of Metropolitan Health 
Lift Maintenance contract was established. 
The contract has the potential to save 
$700,000 per annum.  

Restoration of Fremantle Prison main cell 
block was carried out in stages over the last 
12 months costing $1.8 million. 

The Department has initiated a two-year 
contract for the supply of 170 standard 
transportable buildings to meet an 
increased demand from clients.  

Building Industry 
Development

During 2006–07, we worked with industry 
to implement the Building Code of 
Australia’s (BCA) 5 Star energy efficiency 
standards for new housing.

The Department also provided seed 
funding of $50,000 to Central TAFE for 
the development and flexible delivery of 
diploma and advanced diploma courses for 
local building surveyors.

•

•

•

•

•

•

Fremantle	Prison	Tunnel	Tour

We will manage a total project value of 
approximately $4 billion. 

We will continue working with 
government departments to facilitate 
major building programs which involve 
construction tendering for the:

Department of Education and Training  
 (ten new primary and secondary   
 schools);

Western Australia Police (six police   
 stations);

Department of Health (seventeen   
 major upgrades and new hospitals);   
 and

Department of Sport and Recreation   
 (AK Reserve – basketball and    
 athletics stadiums). 

We will continue to expand the 
Apprenticeship Initiative Pilot Project to 
cover relevant departmental contracts.

We will implement a Graduate 
Development program to build industry 
skills in project management, architecture 
and engineering. 

We will continue to refurbish Westralia 
Square for occupancy by the Department 
of Corrective Services and the Department 
of the Attorney General. The refit will be 
staged so that the occupants can remain in 
the building during the works.

We will finalise the Perth metropolitan 
area (non-CBD) and regional office 
accommodation 
strategic plans. 

•

•

-

-

-

-

•

•

•

•

We will complete a review of the 
current whole-of-government Office 
Accommodation Policies. The policies were 
developed to ensure that government 
office accommodation is provided as 
efficiently as possible, while also enabling 
services to be delivered in an effective 
manner. The policies also address the 
Government’s concerns in other key areas, 
such as sustainability and access for people 
with disabilities.

We will assist schools with their grant 
submissions for the Federal Government’s 
recently expanded $75 million Investing 
In Our Schools program for the remaining 
two years of the program.

We will implement the Schedule of Rates 
zone maintenance contracting in the Perth 
CBD.

We will continue to ensure the long-term 
sustainability of the Fremantle Prison 
Heritage Precinct.

•

•

•

•
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We will manage a total project value of 
approximately $4 billion. 

We will continue working with 
government departments to facilitate 
major building programs which involve 
construction tendering for the:

Department of Education and Training  
 (ten new primary and secondary   
 schools);

Western Australia Police (six police   
 stations);

Department of Health (seventeen   
 major upgrades and new hospitals);   
 and

Department of Sport and Recreation   
 (AK Reserve – basketball and    
 athletics stadiums). 

We will continue to expand the 
Apprenticeship Initiative Pilot Project to 
cover relevant departmental contracts.

We will implement a Graduate 
Development program to build industry 
skills in project management, architecture 
and engineering. 

We will continue to refurbish Westralia 
Square for occupancy by the Department 
of Corrective Services and the Department 
of the Attorney General. The refit will be 
staged so that the occupants can remain in 
the building during the works.

We will finalise the Perth metropolitan 
area (non-CBD) and regional office 
accommodation 
strategic plans. 

•

•

-

-

-

-

•

•

•

•

We will complete a review of the 
current whole-of-government Office 
Accommodation Policies. The policies were 
developed to ensure that government 
office accommodation is provided as 
efficiently as possible, while also enabling 
services to be delivered in an effective 
manner. The policies also address the 
Government’s concerns in other key areas, 
such as sustainability and access for people 
with disabilities.

We will assist schools with their grant 
submissions for the Federal Government’s 
recently expanded $75 million Investing 
In Our Schools program for the remaining 
two years of the program.

We will implement the Schedule of Rates 
zone maintenance contracting in the Perth 
CBD.

We will continue to ensure the long-term 
sustainability of the Fremantle Prison 
Heritage Precinct.

•

•

•

•

Future Directions  
- Major Initiatives for 2007-08

From	top:		
Halls	Creek	Hospital,		

Albany	Entertainment	Centre	and	
Eastern	Horizon’s	New	Living	Project	

at	Lloyd	Penn	Park
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Improve the way we deliver our services.

Drive collaborative government and 
community approaches for improving 
communities.

Support the governance arrangements 
in communities to improve housing and 
infrastructure management.

Build partnerships with communities.

Deliver building and infrastructure 
programs in ways that meet our regulatory 
role, and stakeholders’ and client service 
needs.

Implement and apply the Strategic Asset 
Management Framework and the budget 
control tool Business Case Navigator.

•
•

•

•
•

•

Manage the Government’s office 
accommodation portfolio to support 
government priorities and service delivery 
objectives.

Develop and implement a flexible 
resourcing plan that meets our changing 
business needs.

Develop industry knowledge and expertise 
to provide government with building 
industry policy and advice.

Manage and conserve cultural heritage 
values of government-owned buildings 
controlled by the Department.

•

•

•

•

Critical priorities for the next 12 months

Old 
Treasury 
Buildings
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Operational 
Structure 

Agency Overview
The Department of Housing and Works was created under section 35 of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994 to assist the Minister for Housing and Works administer the housing 
and works portfolio. It delivers the following works-related functions:

This annual report is concerned with these works-related functions only.

The housing functions of the Department are delivered through the Housing Authority and 
the Country Housing Authority. 

Details of the housing functions are contained in the individual annual reports for these 
statutory authorities.

The Department is managed by the Director General (who is also the Chief Executive Officer 
of the Housing Authority). The Department, together with the housing-related statutory 
authorities, operates under one administrative structure, as shown on the page 12.

Construction

(pages 18-19)	

Acts as the Government’s lead agent in the planning, 
design, construction, and fitting out of government 
buildings.

Assists other government agencies with their asset 
planning needs.

•

•

Property	Management

(pages 19-21) 

Coordinates and manages the Government’s office 
accommodation requirements.

Manages the Fremantle Prison.

•

•

Maintenance		

(pages 22-24) 

Provides building maintenance, minor works and 
property services to schools, health facilities, police 
stations and other government buildings.

•

Building	Industry
Development	

(pages 24-26) 

Provides policy advice to the Minister, the Director 
General and the Department on building and 
construction industry matters.

•
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Change in structure from 1 July 2006

The current administrative structure for the Department of Housing and Works and the Housing 
Authority came about on 1 July 2006 with the proclamation of the Machinery of Government 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2006. 

The Act, which was aimed at streamlining government, merged the Government Employees’ 
Housing Authority (GEHA) with the State Housing Commission. 

The newly merged agency was named the Housing Authority, and is governed by a Chief Executive 
Officer rather than a Board.

GEHA became a business unit within the Department, assuming the new title Government Regional 
Officers’ Housing (GROH). 

The Executive

The Department operates under a governance structure in which authority and accountability are 
shared between the Director General and the various sections of the Department (portfolios). 

While the Director General is ultimately accountable for the full range of the Department’s powers 
and functions, the portfolios – through the relevant General Manager/Deputy Director General 
– have considerable autonomy in day-to-day decision-making, allocating resources and determining 
priorities within the portfolios.

The departmental structure is shown on page 13.

HOUSING AND WORKS PORTFOLIO  
ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE

Minister for 
Housing and 

Works

Department 
of Housing and 

Works

Country 
Housing 

Authority Board

Country 
Housing 

Authority

 
Housing  

Authority
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DEPARTMENTAL STRUCTURE

Bob  Mitchell 
Director	General

Office of 
the Director 

General

Communications 
and Marketing 

Building Industry 
Development 

Fremantle Prison

 
HOUSING	
SERVICES	

Kerry Fijac 
Deputy Director General

Community Housing
Housing Policy
Land and Housing 
Development
Government Regional 
Officers’ Housing 
Country Housing 
Authority
Home Ownership 
(including Keystart)

•
•
•

•

•

•

 
WORKS	AND	

BUILDING	SERVICES

John Coles 
Deputy Director General

Major Works and 
Construction
Housing Construction
Major Works Planning 
and Project Services
Public Works Policy, 
Strategy and 
Legislation
Architectural Services 
and Building Standards
Commercial Property 
Management
Maintenance, Planning  
Programming, 
Contracting
Regional Works 
Services
Remote Indigenous 
Community 
Infrastructure and 
Essential Services

•

•
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

 
BUSINESS	
SERVICES

Rochelle Bradley 
General Manager

Human Resources 
Financial Services
Securities
Management 
Review and Audit
Information 
Services
Information 
Management
Contracts and 
Facilities Services 

•
•
•
•

•

•

•

  

	

ABORIGINAL		
HOUSING	AND		

INFRASTRUCTURE	
Shane Hamilton 

Executive Director

 

HOUSING	
MANAGEMENT	

SERVICES	

(Shane Edmonds) 

Tenancy 
Management and 
Support 
Property 
Management
Housing 
Maintenance 
Services

•

•

•

 
REVIEW	AND	

REBUILD

Graeme Gammie 
General Manager

Oversee Functional  
Review
Direct and Manage 
the Department’s  
Reform Strategies
Manage Key 
Corporate Projects

Corporate		
Development	

Services

Business 
Improvement
Strategic Planning
Legislative Services

•

•

•

•

•
•
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Our Core Values

Work together as a committed team

We support each other as we perform 
our individual roles in harmony with the 
strategic direction of the Department.

Act with respect

We remain conscious of the value of 
individuals in the way we behave towards 
each other and the Western Australian 
community.

Strive to be innovative

We develop new ideas and concepts 
and seek ways to convert them into 
practical forms that will increase our 
contribution to improving the welfare of 
the community.

Act with integrity

We earn and sustain public trust by 
performing our work conscientiously, 
reliably and transparently.

Embody professionalism

We strive to develop and apply our 
expertise and skills in all our endeavours.

Take pride in what we do

We respect and value the contributions 
of our staff and the Department’s overall 
contribution to the well being of the 
Western Australian community.

•

•

•

•

•

•

Our Desired Leadership 
Attributes

Set a clear, consistent and achievable 
direction;

Build and support our team to 
perform;

Challenge the way we do business;

Lead by example; and

Communicate clearly.

•

•

•
•
•

VALUES AND LEADERSHIP

Responsible Minister
The Minister responsible for the 
Department of Housing and 
Works is the Hon Michelle Roberts 
MLA, Minister for Employment 
Protection; Housing and Works; 
Indigenous Affairs; Heritage; Land 
Information.

Legislation 
Administered
The Department is responsible for 
administering the following Acts:

Architects Act 2004
Construction Contracts Act 2004
Dividing Fences Act 1961
Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1960 — Parts VIII and XV 
Public Works Act 1902

•
•
•
•

•

14
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The State Government’s plan for improving 
the quality of life of all Western Australians is 
described in Better Planning: Better Futures – 
A Framework for the Strategic Management 
of the Western Australian Public Sector, 
released in September 2006. 

The framework is built on five goals for 
government relating to better services, jobs 
and economic development, lifestyle and 
the environment, regional development, and 
governance and public sector improvement. 

The first two of these goals and their 
related strategic outcomes – a strong and 
vibrant community, and a level and mix 
of infrastructure that promotes economic 
growth – are central to our core business.

While not varying its key performance 
indicators during the last reporting year, the 
Department’s three strategic intentions, as 
outlined in the Future Directions section of 
this report, form the basis for 
internal strategic, portfolio and 
branch planning.

We service a wide variety of people 
across the community, including social 
housing clients, Aboriginal communities, 
government employees, all State 
government departments, and many 
building, construction, industry groups 
and associations. In so doing, we make 
a significant contribution to the other 
agency outcomes such as those related 
to education, justice, health, regional 
development and indigenous affairs.

The diagram on page 16 illustrates our 
key outcomes, services and performance 
measures, along with our strategic intentions 
and planning directions for Western 
Australia.

Performance Management 
Framework

Our Contribution to Government 
Goals and Outcomes
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Government of Western Australia
Better	Planning:	Better	Futures

A	Framework	for	the	Strategic	Management	of	the	Western	Australian	Public	Sector

Goal �
Lifestyle and the 

Environment

Measures	of	Effectiveness
the extent to which the Housing 
Authority is responsive to the housing 
needs of eligible Western Australians
waiting times for accommodation 
(applicants housed)

•

•

Goal	2:	Jobs	and	Economic	Development
creating	conditions	that	foster	a	strong		

economy	delivering	more	jobs,	opportunities	
and	greater	wealth	for	all	Western	Australians

Goal	1:	Better	Services
enhancing	the	quality	of	life	and	well	being	

of	all	people	throughout	Western	Australia	by	
providing	high	quality,	accessible	services

Goal 4
Regional Development

Service
land

The	positioning	of	GROH’s	outcome	and	measures	in	the	Performance	
Management	Framework	will	be	determined	during	the	2007-08	financial	year

AGENCY STRATEGIC INTENTIONS
More	People	
in	Housing

Improving	
Building	and	

Infrastructure

Improving	
Aboriginal	

Communities

Performance Management Framework

Service
home loans

Service
rental housing

Primary	Strategic	Outcome
A	level	and	mix	of	infrastructure	that		

promotes	economic	growth

Primary	Strategic	Outcome
A	strong	and	vibrant	community

Goal 5
Governance and Public 

Sector Improvement

Department	of	Housing	and	Works	
Desired	Outcome

government buildings and accommodation 
delivered, managed and maintained at agreed 

standards

Housing	Authority’s	
Desired	Outcome

housing eligible Western Australians

Measure	of	Efficiency
operating cost per rental 

property

Measure	of	Efficiency
operating cost per current loan 

account

Measure	of	Efficiency
operating cost per lot 

developed

Service
delivery, management and maintenance of 
government buildings, projects and office 

accommodation

Measure	of	Effectiveness
the extent to which the Department 

has delivered, managed and 
maintained government buildings and 
accommodation to agreed standards

Measures	of	Efficiency
cost per million dollars of value of capital 
works projects delivered
cost per million dollars of gross rentals 
of buildings and office accommodation 
managed
cost per million dollars of value of minor works 
and maintenance services delivered

•

•

•
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The Department’s contribution to the achievement of the five goals for Government is summarised 
below:

Goal 1:  Better Services
Enhancing	the	quality	of	life	and	well	
being	of	all	people	throughout	Western	
Australia	by	providing	high	quality,	
accessible	services.

Goal 2: Jobs and Economic Development
Creating	conditions	that	foster	a	strong	
economy	delivering	more	jobs,	opportunities	
and	greater	wealth	for	all	Western	Australians.

Goal �: Lifestyle and the Environment
Protecting	and	enhancing	the	unique	
Western	Australian	lifestyle	and	ensuring	
sustainable	management	of	the	
environment.

Goal	5:		 Governance	and	Public		 	
	 	 Sector	Improvement
Developing	and	maintaining	a	skilled,	diverse	and	ethical	public	sector	serving	the	
Government	with	consideration	of	the	public	interest.

Goal 4: Regional Development
Ensuring	that	regional	Western	Australia	is	
strong	and	vibrant.

The Department contributes to these 
outcomes by planning, designing and 
constructing buildings such as schools, 
health and recreational facilities on behalf 
of other government agencies.

The Department contributes to this Goal 
by ensuring that social infrastructure such 
as schools, health facilities and recreational 
facilities are built and maintained to a high 
standard. This helps create an environment 
that encourages learning, skills and the 
development of creativity for competitive 
advantage.

Through its procurement and construction 
activities, the Department is also helping 
create new jobs and employment growth. 
Our apprentice program supports 90 
additional building and construction 
apprenticeships and traineeships in WA.

The Department is committed to reducing 
adverse impacts on the environment 
through waste avoidance and resource 
recovery. Included in this annual report 
are details of some of the Department’s 
approaches to waste, energy, water, vehicles 
and travel.

There are also details of how the 
Department is applying Environmentally 
Sustainable Design (ESD) principles in its 
design and construction projects.

The Department worked with industry to 
implement the BCA 5 Star energy efficiency 
standards for new housing.

The Department contributes to this Goal by working with other government 
agencies, in such areas as capital investment and delivery of capital works projects, 
to ensure whole-of-government approaches to decision-making.

The Department has a strong authorisations framework in which authority and 
accountability are shared across the organisation. The Department is a strong 
values-based organisation that promotes open and honest communication and 
integrity in the workplace.

The Department has a strong presence in 
regional Western Australia with offices in the 
Southern, South West, Central/Goldfields, 
Mid West/Gascoyne, Pilbara, Kimberley and 
Wheatbelt regions. This provides for:

enhanced decision-making based on 
a thorough understanding of regional 
issues; and

effective service delivery to regions 
that responds to the need of diverse 
communities.

The Department provides services, such as 
maintenance, to clients in regional areas 
through these offices.

•

•
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Report on 
Operations

Construction
Overview 
The Department is responsible for delivering 
the Government’s non-residential building 
program across Western Australia.  

This includes:

supporting agencies with strategic asset 
management planning; and

engaging consultants and contractors to 
deliver the Capital Works program.

Services
There was a considerable increase – of more 
than 40 per cent – in the Capital Works 
funded (construction) projects undertaken 
by the State Government this year.

The turnover for 2006-07 was $462 million, 
approximately $140 million higher than 
last year’s turnover of $324 million. This 
year’s workload involved approximately 650 
projects with an estimated total value of 
$3.7 billion – approximately $1.8 billion more 
than in 2005-06.

This increase is attributed to several factors:

A substantial increase in investment 
in our schools. This year we delivered 
projects for five high schools (Ellenbrook 
HS, Comet Bay College, Canning Vale 
College, Esperance SHS Junior Campus, 
Mindarie Senior College), seven primary 
schools (East Butler PS, Shark Bay PS, 
Caladenia PS, Bertram PS, Tapping PS, 
Neerabup PS and Hopetoun PS) and 

•

•

•

one TAFE College (Kimberley College) 
at a total value of $145 million. This is a 
significant increase from the traditional 
annual delivery of one high school and 
three primary schools. 

An unprecedented building program 
for hospitals, where the total project 
list value exceeds $1.8 billion 
– approximately half the value of the 
entire project list. This includes projects 
all over the State, including Albany, 
Busselton, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie, Port 
Hedland, Broome, Fitzroy Crossing, Halls 
Creek and Kununurra. It also includes 
one of the largest building construction 
projects to be undertaken by this State 
Government – Fiona Stanley Hospital 
– which is currently budgeted for $1.1 
billion.

Six facilities totalling $17 million were 
delivered for the Western Australia Police 
(Warakuma Multi Function Police Facility, 
Kalumburu Multi Function Police Facility, 
Dampier Peninsula Multi Function 
Police Facility, Ellenbrook Police Station, 
and Bidyadanga Multi Function Police 
Facility).

•

•

Ellenbrook 
Secondary College
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FESA received two new regional offices 
in Bunbury and Geraldton and a new 
volunteer fire station in Broome ($4.1 
million).

Other interesting projects include the new 
performing arts venue in Northbridge; new 
athletics, basketball and rugby stadiums 
at AK Reserve; refurbishment works for 
Rottnest Island; and three projects for Perth 
Zoo – elephant, orang-utan and sun bear 
enclosures.

•

•

The Perth Arena will provide a minimum of 
12,000 seats in sporting mode and 14,000 
seats in concert mode. The tender closed on 
27 March 2007 with two bids received. BGC 
Construction was selected to construct the 
arena with occupation scheduled for 2009.

The State Government decided to revise 
the proposed use for the Old Treasury 
Buildings to be more in keeping with Perth 
City Council and other significant planning 
bodies. This will result in a much improved 
heritage precinct concept. Cabinet has 
agreed that the Department, in conjunction 
with the City of Perth, prepare and expand 
the redevelopment proposal to incorporate 
the restoration of the Old Treasury Buildings, 
a new hotel development and demolition 
of the existing Law Chambers/Public Trust 
Office building to establish Cathedral 
Square.

•

•

Property Management

Overview

The Department is responsible for managing the 
Government’s office accommodation portfolio, 
as well as managing Fremantle Prison.

This includes

strategic planning;

oversight of the Government’s office 
accommodation policies;

managing government-owned, multi-
tenanted office accommodation;

procurement and administration of leased 
office space;

•
•

•

•

delivery of fit-out services to government 
agencies; and

managing Fremantle Prison as a heritage 
icon and major tourist attraction.

•

•

 Fremantle Prison

Perth Arena Site
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Commercial Property 
In 2006-07, we administered 397 leases for 
government tenancies in 312 privately owned 
buildings. We also managed 90,380 square 
metres of government-owned office space in 
19 multi-tenanted buildings controlled by the 
Minister for Housing and Works.

The tight commercial property market and 
large number of expiring leases presented 
challenges in identifying and obtaining value 
for money accommodation for government 
agencies, particularly in the Perth CBD. Despite 
this, commercial terms and conditions were 
negotiated in securing long-term lease renewals 
for significant CBD buildings, including the 
lease for the proposed new office building 
at 140 William Street, Perth. This building will 
be constructed to a 4.5 Star 
Australian Building Greenhouse 
Rating and 5 Star Green Star 
sustainability standard. The 
Government has committed to 
occupy 22,000 square metres of 
office accommodation in the new 
building with occupancy planned 
to commence in 2010.

Government-owned buildings provided gross 
rents of $30.5 million from both government and 
private tenants and returned $18.6 million in net 
rent to the State. The difference represents the 
outgoings/running costs (e.g. cleaning, security, 
utilities consumption, lift and air-conditioning 
maintenance etc) involving these buildings.

A range of capital works has been undertaken 
within the portfolio with a particular emphasis 
on sustainability initiatives.  This has resulted in 
substantial energy savings across the portfolio, 
particularly within the major CBD buildings. 
The capital value of the portfolio is now 
approximately $233 million. 

In November 2006, the Auditor General reported 
on the cost efficiency of government office 
space, observing that the Department could 
better monitor the effects of government 
office accommodation policies and that better 
strategic planning was needed. In response 
to the report, the Department is building 
the capacity to monitor and report on the 
effects of office accommodation policies. The 
Department has also prepared a strategic office 
accommodation plan for the greater Perth 
metropolitan area for release in early 2007-08 
and has started work on a similar strategic plan 
for regional areas.

Commercial	leases	...
We	administered	397	leases	for	government	tenancies	

in	312	privately	owned	buildings	in	2006-07.

Rental	returns	…
Government-owned	buildings	provided	

gross	rents	of	$30.5	million	from	both	
government	and	private	tenants	and	

returned	$18.6	million	in	net	rent.

Proposed	new	offices	
140	William	Street
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Fremantle Prison

The Department manages and operates 
Fremantle Prison. The prison is one of 
Western Australia’s premier heritage sites. It 
was built by convicts in the 1850s and was 
closed as a place of incarceration in 1991 
after 136 years of continuous use. It was 
opened to the public in 1992 as a visitor 
attraction.

At the State Tourism Awards held in 
November 2006, Fremantle Prison was 
very successful, winning the Major Tourist 
Attraction award. It was also awarded a gold 
medal in the Adventure Tourism category 
for the Tunnel Tours and a silver medal in the  
Culture and Heritage category.

Fremantle Prison’s system of tunnels was 
opened to the public in June 2005.  This 
unique soft-adventure tour continues to 
be popular and has attracted some 23,000 
people since opening.

Against a general tourism market decline, 
the prison attracted a record of 174,842 
visitors – an increase of more than 17.1 per 
cent on the previous year.

Underlining the significance of Fremantle 
Prison as a heritage icon, it was added to the 
National Heritage List in August 2005 – the 
first Western Australian place and only the 
thirteenth place listed nationally.

In September 2006, the Western Australian 
Government endorsed the proposed 
nomination of Fremantle Prison for World 
Heritage listing.

A $1.8 million project was initiated late 
in 2005-06 to conserve the degraded 
fabric of the main cell block. The primary 
objectives of the project were to restore and 
conserve the western façade by repairing 
the stonework and joinery, and restoring 
painted surfaces to match their original 
appearance. This work has progressed 
throughout the year with the project 
nearing its final stages.

The prison was claimed as an Aboriginal 
heritage site under the Aboriginal Heritage 
Act 1972. As a result, other works were put 
on hold while negotiations were held with 
the indigenous community. Consultations 
were held throughout the year, and 
agreement has now been reached with the 
indigenous community to allow a Section 
18 application to be lodged in order for 
work to be carried out.

Fremantle	Prison	won	the	major	tourist	attraction	award	
at	the	State	Tourism	Awards.	Over	the	past	year	it	has	

attracted	174,842	visitors,	an	increase	of	17.1	per	cent.

Fremantle Prison
 Fremantle Prison

 Fremantle Prison
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Overview
Our Maintenance and Minor Works area 
performs a vital role in arranging building 
maintenance and improvements for various 
agencies State-wide. The Department strives 
to ensure that buildings such as schools, 
police stations and State government offices 
are maintained at an acceptable level for the 
convenience and safety of the public and staff.

Services
In 2006-07, the Department managed works in 
excess of $192 million using more than 2,200 
suppliers to deliver services to more than 65 
different clients.  Some 36 per cent of these 
works were carried out in regional Western 
Australia. Work took place at more than 2,000 
different premises in some 296 towns and 
suburbs.

Key elements of the service delivery included:

More than 145,000 breakdown repair 
jobs totalling $43 million were arranged 
State-wide. Seventy per cent of these were 
contracted through the One Call Centre 
located in Manjimup. 

The Project Delivery Service directly 
arranged services for more than 40 different 
client agencies over 288 different premises. 
They used approximately 400 small business 
suppliers who service the arrangement 
through a pre-qualified Service Providers 
Panel. The value of works arranged through 
the in-house team was $18 million.

•

•

Contracts to the value of $20 million were 
let to move a total of 170 transportable 
buildings – including classrooms, halls and 
offices –  around the State during the year. 

Seven client agencies had maintenance 
services arranged by four service arrangers 
through 11 individual service level contracts 
managed by the Department. The value of 
works arranged through these contracts 
was $59 million during the year.

The directorate provided maintenance planning 
and procurement advice to various government 
agencies throughout the year and is taking 
a leading role in the whole-of-government 
maintenance procurement reform agenda.  

The Department is currently reviewing its 
maintenance service delivery model to 
streamline and improve services to agencies.  

Specific programs
The Department worked on a number of 
specific programs during the year including:

Fixing Our Schools program

The Fixing Our Schools program is funded 
by the State Government and aims to 
reduce the maintenance backlog at schools. 
It started in 2004-05 with a $65 million 
budget for work over four years.

The 2006-07 budget for this program 
was $19.7 million ($8.9 million for the 
metropolitan area, and $10.8 million for 
regions) and covered work at approximately 
270 schools. 

•

•

•

•

Maintenance works … 
more than $192 million 

worth of works was 
carried out to more than 
2,000 different premises 

across WA.

Maintenance

Police	Academy	-	Joondalup
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100 Schools project

Work continued with the Department of 
Education and Training on:

an Information and Computing Technologies 
(ICT) rollout to schools. Data cabling 
contracts were arranged at more than 30 
schools, mainly in country areas, at a cost of 
around $2 million.

electrical upgrading work was also carried 
out at some of these schools to ensure that 
sufficient electrical capacity was available for 
the additional ICT equipment. The electrical 
upgrade program for 2006-07 was $1.5 
million.

Other school programs

The Department also assists schools in a number 
of special programs funded through direct 
grants to schools. These included:

the State Government’s Solar Schools 
program;

the Federal Government’s Investing In Our 
Schools program; and

the Federal Government’s Community Water 
Grants program.

•

•

•

•

•

Schools asbestos audit

We worked with the Department of 
Education and Training to complete an 
asbestos audit of all schools throughout the 
State. This is enabling the Department of 
Education and Training to provide asbestos 
management plans for all schools. 

The total cost for the audits and reports was 
around $500,000. This project will enable 
the Department of Education and Training 
to comply with the latest requirements 
of the National Occupational Health and 
Safety Commission guidelines on asbestos 
management.

Police Station Upgrade program

The four-year police station upgrade 
program continued into 2006-07, with the 
anticipated works of around $1 million 
split evenly between the country and 
metropolitan areas.

WA Police Service OSH Upgrade program

We are working closely with the WA Police 
Service on its five-year Occupational Safety and 
Health Upgrade program for facilities. The total 
expenditure on this program was $1.8 million, 
with $800,000 spent in the metropolitan area 
and $1 million in the country.

•

•

•

This project is a State Government initiative in response 
to the recommendations of the Fremantle Prison Heritage 
Precinct Master Plan (2003).

The project was made possible through funding from 
the Federal Government under the National Heritage 
Investment Initiative program.

The entire Fremantle Prison site is on the State Register of 
Heritage Places.

The Department is managing the works. Together with a 
heritage architect our staff have documented restoration 
works to stonework and window frames. The $1.8 million 
works cover the entire western elevation of the main cell 
block and were carried out over the last 12 months.

2�

Restoration 
works to 

Fremantle Prison 
main cell block.
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Overview
The Building Industry Development directorate 
provides policy advice and delivers the 
Government’s regulation and reform objectives 
for the building and construction industry. 

The directorate:

develops building industry policy and 
advises the Minister, Director General and the 
Department on building industry matters;

reviews, updates and develops new building 
legislation, regulations and processes;

manages building standards and Western 
Australia’s input to the Building Code of 
Australia (BCA); and

supports the building control functions of 
Local Government and delivers national 
building regulation reform agreements.

•

•

•

•

Building Industry Development aims to develop 
a better and more sustainable built environment 
delivered by an efficient and effective building 
industry.

Major Initiatives and 
Achievements in 2006-07

National Regulation Reforms

During 2006, the Council of Australian 
Governments (COAG) identified building 
regulation reform as a national ‘hot spot’ and 
through a new Inter-Government Agreement 
committed to developing the BCA as the 
primary national building standard. In December 
2006, the Department obtained Cabinet 
approval for measures to implement this 
agreement. This included confirmation of the 
policy to avoid State variations to the BCA, and 
to use annual BCA revisions as the preferred 
method for introducing new building standards 
into Western Australia. 

Whole-of-government procurement reform

In 2006-07, as part of the procurement efficiencies, a Whole of Metropolitan Health Lift Maintenance 
contract was established. The contract has the potential to save $700,000 per annum. A number 
of initiatives relating to procurement reform have been established, including low-value quotation 
panels and small-value consulting panels to achieve better value for money.

Resourcing issues related to the economic growth in construction, including the availability of 
external consultants, have created a challenging environment for the Department in extending the 
procurement reforms into regional centres and elsewhere in the metropolitan area.

Highlights of 2006-07

The Department has initiated a two-year contract for standard transportable buildings to meet 
an increased demand from clients.  To date, fourteen stock buildings were issued utilising this 
contract last year totalling approximately $743,000 and all were allocated to a site prior to 
completion of construction.

The Department established Schedule of Rates (SOR) zone contracts as part of its procurement 
reforms. Contractors are given exclusive rights to work in a trade within a zone and in return the 
Government achieves a fixed price for many of the low-priced breakdown repairs.

•

•

Building Industry Development
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The Department is actively involved, on behalf 
of the industry in Western Australia, in the 
Australian Building Codes Board, the Building 
Codes Committee and the National Technical 
Summit, as well as specialist committees 
involving planning and building control, climate 
change and sustainability.

Reform of Building Control – A New 
Building Act for WA

Public submissions on proposals for a new 
Building Act for Western Australia closed on 30 
June 2006. The Department brought together 
a stakeholder reference group to consider the 
submissions and guide development of detailed 
drafting instructions for the new legislation. 
With input from regular meetings of working 
groups, the Department has largely completed 
the drafting instructions, covering building 
certification and permit processes, construction 
on boundaries, compliance and enforcement, 
and practitioner registration. 

The Department also worked with the 
Department of Consumer and Employment 
Protection to review related legislation in the 
consumer protection portfolio. Replacing 
outdated legislation in Western Australia is a 
critical part of the national regulation reforms and 
is vital to the continued efficiency of the building 
and construction industry in Western Australia.

Local Government legislation

The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Amendment Bill 2005 was passed by Parliament 
in June 2007. The amendments to the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1960 
are expected to come into effect from 1 January 
2008 and provide for:

retrospective approval of unauthorised 
building works;

introduction of national accreditation 
standards for building surveyors; and

•

•

greater flexibility in the use of private sector 
building surveyors to streamline building 
approvals.

During 2006-07, the Department worked 
closely with the Australian Institute of Building 
Surveyors and training institutions to develop 
effective transitional provisions to adopt 
national standards and deliver training courses 
to allow existing local government building 
surveyors to obtain national recognition. In 
particular, the Department provided $50,000 
seed funding to Central TAFE to develop 
diploma and advanced diploma courses for local 
building surveyors.

Sustainability and response to Climate 
Change

During 2006-07, the Department worked with 
industry to implement the BCA 5 Star energy 
efficiency standards for new housing. These 
standards require houses to use passive solar 
orientation, good ventilation and effective 
insulation to minimise energy used in heating 
and cooling.  

In addition, the Premier’s Climate Change Action 
Statement in May 2007 committed Western 
Australia to 5 Star Plus standards in new houses. 
These standards deal with energy use and 
greenhouse gas emissions in water heating 
and water-saving measures. They include the 
mandatory use of efficient shower, tap and toilet 
fittings; the use of alternative water supplies; 
and grey water 
diversion in houses 
with high expected 
water use.  

•
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The Department developed Stage 1 of these standards in consultation with industry 
and relevant government agencies, and they will apply from 1 September 2007.  
The second stage will be implemented in line with the development of the State’s 
water recycling strategy. The Department is working with the Australian Building 
Codes Board to incorporate these standards into the Building Code of Australia. It is 
also on a joint working committee examining the use of sustainability rating tools in 
planning and building control. 

A Building Commission for Western Australia
As part of its work on building regulation reform and the development of a Building 
Act, the Department identified an integrated best-practice model for administering 
building regulation. This proposed model would be responsible for policy and 
research, building standards, practitioner registration, information and education 
and consumer advocacy, similar to the Building Commission in Victoria.  

The Department is leading a working party to develop an implementation plan for 
a Building Commission, with enabling legislation to be enacted during 2008. The 
Building Commission is expected to be established as a statutory authority funded 
by a levy on building approvals and registration fees.
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Significant Issues and 
Trends

The Government’s  
unprecedented Capital Works  
program has seen another big increase 
in the number of projects worth more 
than $10 million; with the Department 
managing 64 such projects in 2006-07, 
compared to 41 in 2005-06, and 30 in 
2004-05. 

The tight construction market continues 
to provide a challenging environment 
for the delivery of the Capital Works 
program.

Rents for government-tenanted Perth 
CBD office accommodation increased by 
53 per cent in 2006, and are forecast to 
increase by an additional 31 per cent in 
2007, and 15 per cent in 2008.

•

•

•

The Department is reviewing building 
maintenance needs and how they 
are determined, planned and project 
managed. The review will have 
implications for the Government and its 
agencies, as it will better connect the 
Department’s service delivery to other 
agencies’ strategic maintenance plans.

A review of Fremantle Prison’s 
Conservation Management Plan is being 
undertaken.

In recognition of its convict history, 
Fremantle Prison is one of 11 sites 
throughout Australia being submitted for 
World Heritage Listing.

•

•

•

 Fremantle 
Prison
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Disclosures and Legal 

ComplianceReview and Rebuild 
A departmental review was initiated in 
September 2006. Consistent with the Guidelines 
for Public Sector Reviews and Evaluations (2005), 
the review is considering the most appropriate 
roles, responsibilities, organisational structures 
and funding models to ensure effective delivery of 
the Department’s services and outcomes. 

The Review and Rebuild branch was established to undertake a staged 
program of reviews across the Department’s business units, which are 
expected to be completed in 2007-08. It is expected that the benefits of 
the review will be a departmental structure that will better deliver the 

housing services and works and building services required by 
Government. 

Together with promoting best practice procurement processes, 
the review is expected to  improve:

housing outcomes for the community; 

service delivery through better alignment of products   
           and services with customers’ needs; 

financial and people management; and 

partnerships with our colleagues in government and    
              business and the broader community. 

A Review Steering Committee has been established including 
executives from our Department;  
Stuart Hicks (an independent 

reviewer); and senior executives Michelle 
Reynolds (Assistant Director General) and 
Anthony Kannis (Executive Director, Agency 
Resources), representing the Department of 
the Premier and Cabinet and the Department 
of Treasury and Finance. The committee meets 
regularly to oversee progress of the review 
and endorse recommended strategies for the 
Department to play its part in building better communities. 

•
•

•
•

Further	details	on	Review	and	Rebuild	projects	can	be	found	on	the	
Department’s	website	at:	

http://www.dhw.wa.gov.au/585_1�20.asp
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Price Street Units, 
Subiaco

Coolangah Park

Meve Land Sales

http://www.dhw.wa.gov.au/585_1320.asp
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Disclosures and Legal 

Compliance

Audit and Risk Management
Audit Committee
Our Audit Committee is a four-member advisory committee established to assist the 
Accountable Authority (the Director General) discharge his responsibilities under 
Section 53 of the Financial Management Act 2006.  The Committee met four times during 
the year.

Internal Audit Function
In accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 2006, the 
Management Review and Audit Branch (which incorporates internal audit services) 
operates as an independent appraisal activity. 

The branch aims to ensure that all activities are carried out effectively and efficiently in 
accordance with sound business practices and all legal requirements. 

Comprehensive audit plans are developed annually that address the key business risks 
of the agency.

Authorisation Framework
The Department has established a framework, specifying the positions approved by 
the Minister for Housing and Works, to authorise work applying to contracts awarded 
under the Public Works Act 1902. This includes construction, maintenance, fit-out and 
associated consultancy contracts.  

These authorisations are always subject to ministerial budget and program approval 
(and other requirements). 

Public works projects managed by the Department, carried out in the name of the 
Minister for Housing and Works, are also subject to normal public sector authorisations 
processes and the Financial Management Act 2006.  
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Risk Management Function
The Department has in place an appropriate risk management framework supported by 
arrangements to identify, analyse, evaluate and formulate treatment plans to manage risk.

In July 2006, the Department undertook to collaborate with RiskCover (a business division of 
the Insurance Commission of Western Australia) to provide ongoing risk management training 
throughout the agency and to utilise the RiskCover RiskBase Risk Register.

The Department created a corporate and environmental risk position in December 2006 to manage 
this function, which is supported by the internal audit function, which provides guidance and 
support in implementing risk management strategies.   

The agency also undertook a special risk project this year to develop comprehensive business 
continuity plans to address any possible influenza pandemic affecting the State. Such a pandemic 
could seriously affect the ability of the agency, through depleted staff resources, to continue to 
deliver its critical business services. This culminated in the Department successfully taking part in 
the Department of Premier and Cabinet’s Pandemic Influenza Desktop Exercise held at the Perth 
Convention Centre in December 2006.

Ministerial Directives
No Ministerial directives were received during 2006-07.

Other Financial Disclosures
Staffing Levels

The Department of Housing and Works had 298 staff at 30 June 2007. The following table indicates 
staff numbers:

Further details on staffing policies, recruitment, development and equal employment outcomes can 
be found on Pages 32-37 of this annual report.

Employees 2005-06 2006-07
Permanent Full-time 195 219

Part-time 35 42

Contract Full-time 24 25
Part-time 14 10

Casual 1 1
Trainee 2 0
Other 0 1
Total 271 298
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Occupational Safety and Health 

Employee safety and welfare is a high priority for us with steps being taken to promote Occupational 
Safety and Health across the workforce. 

A number of employees work in remote areas. A sub-group of the Safety Committee was formed to 
review the work practices and procedures affecting these employees. 

Other initiatives included calling a tender for an online induction training system; the introduction 
of safety and health and injury management training for all supervisory roles; and the review of 
emergency evacuation procedures in all offices.

The Department continued its focus on injury management and rehabilitation in its approach to 
claims management, and continued to support officers returning to work from extended absences 
due to ill-health.  

Industrial Relations 

There were no industrial matters during this year leading employees to stop work.

Pricing Policies of Services Provided 

The Department charges for its goods and services on a full or partial cost recovery basis. These 
include:

The Department’s Building and Works Construction directorate provides services to government 
agencies to support the planning and delivery of its non-residential building programs. A service 
charge is levied to achieve full cost recovery, including the direct costs of providing the services 
and the indirect departmental overheads. Asset planning advice and program management 
services are charged on a time basis. Rates charged reflect the total costs of personnel delivering 
the service. Charges for project management services for individual projects are a percentage of 
the cost of the project. The percentages are on a sliding scale inversely proportional to the value 
of the project and adjusted for locality and project complexity. The total charges represent about 
two per cent of the value of the works managed.

The Department charges for managing maintenance and minor works on behalf of agencies.  
Charges are determined in order to achieve full cost recovery, and are either fixed or a 
percentage depending on the service provided.

Fremantle Prison offers a range of tours to the public. Tour prices are reviewed annually, with 
price increases maintained around the Consumer Price Index. 

Governance Disclosures 
Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest
Senior officers of the Department do not have an interest in any existing or proposed contracts 
made with the Department.

•

•

•
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Progress in meeting Equity Targets
Date: 30/06/07      Organisation Code: 137

Agency: Department of Housing and Works

%  Actual 
Representation

Equity 
Index

2007 Objective 
set by agency

% Above 
or below 
objective

Women’s Management Tiers 2 and 3 33.3 53 35.1 -1.8
People from culturally diverse backgrounds 10.5 59 9.7 0.8
Indigenous Australians 7.1 62 7.5 -0.4
People with disabilities 4.2 24 4.4 -0.2
Youth 6 n/a 6.6 -0.6

(A meaningful equity index can not be calculated for a diversity group with less than 10 individuals)

Other Legal Requirements
Employment and Industrial Relations

Staffing Policies, Recruitment, Development and Equal Employment Outcomes

Workforce Development

The Department’s ongoing commitment to workforce development saw progress in a number of 
areas:

Equity and Diversity

The Department continued to build on its commitment to diversity and equity practices through the 
development of the Equal Opportunity Management Plan that was endorsed and registered with 
the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity.

General awareness sessions were presented across the metropolitan and regional areas including 
two specific sessions for line managers on Managing EEO Complaints.

A recruitment drive for Equal Employment Opportunity contact officers resulted in the appointment 
of an additional eight contact officers who received preliminary training.  A network of 16 fully 
trained EEO contact officers is now in place, including six in regional areas. 

•
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What	was	the	
initiative?

Reference	in	
current	plan

What	was	
achieved?

What	difference	
has	it	made	to	
the	agency?

How	was	
the	initiative	
evaluated?

Provide support 
for staff seeking 
information 
or assistance 
with EEO issues 
by providing 
a quarterly 
newsletter and 
effective Contact 
Officer network.

1. Strategy 2.C in 
2006–09 EEO 
Management 
Plan (recently 
upgraded to 
2007–10 plan and 
registered with 
the OEEO July 
2007).  

EEO Contact Officer 
recruitment drive 
resulted in Contact 
Officers doubling 
from eight to 16 
and a two-day 
comprehensive 
training course was 
completed in May 
2007.

New HR newsletter 
includes an EEO 
section and is 
posted on the 
InfoNET every 
two months. 
This includes an 
up-to-date Contact 
Officer list and a 
new link has been 
installed on the 
InfoNET.

Higher profile 
of Contact 
Officers and 
raised awareness 
of expected 
behaviours.

HR information 
is more easily 
accessible with 
up-to-date 
information 
being regularly 
circulated to all 
staff.

Feedback from 
participants in the 
form of workshop 
evaluation forms. 

There is a raised 
level of awareness 
particularly in 
regional offices.

All Contact Officers 
are identifiable by 
EEO Contact Officer 
name badges.

Nil formal complaints 
in the past 12 
months. All issues 
have been resolved 
at the local level in 
consultation with HR 
Consultant EEO.

More indigenous 
Accommodation 
Managers to be 
recruited.

2. Strategy 4B.2
2006–09  EEO 
Management 
Plan.

Seventeen 
applications were 
received for the 
job advertisement 
for indigenous 
Accommodation 
Managers. Three 
applicants were 
successful.

Increased level 
of indigenous 
staff at customer 
contact level.  

The increased 
number of 
indigenous front 
line staff in regional 
offices brings a 
better understanding 
of  customers’ needs.

Aboriginal 
Cultural 
Awareness 
Training.

3. Strategy 2.A1 in 
2006-09 Plan, 
Strategy 3.2 in the 
current EEO plan 
and reference 
in additional 
information on 
Page 3 of the EEO 
Management 
Plan.

This training is 
region specific with 
local presenters, so 
it is more relevant 
to our clients.

Priority training 
has been given 
to staff with 
the most direct 
contact with 
our indigenous 
clients.

Evaluation forms 
indicate the course 
had created a great 
deal of awareness 
and comprehension, 
highlighted where 
the process of 
ill feeling comes 
from, and most 
respondents said 
they had learnt a lot 
about Aboriginal 
peoples’  history that 
they weren’t aware of 
previously.  

Key EEO initiatives implemented in 2006-07
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The Department has implemented training 
needs analyses for both metropolitan and 
regional staff. The results of these will help 
formulate a strategic training plan. The 
Department also recognises training needs 
in the areas of mental health and cultural 
awareness, and will continue to issue staff with 
monthly EEO updates. 

Indigenous Employment

The proposed Aboriginal Employment Strategy 
2007-12 (AES) will help ensure the Department 
is seen as a role model in the employment and 
retention of Aboriginal people.  The aim of the 
strategy is to have more Aboriginal employees 
across all levels. 

This five-year strategy incorporates the existing 
and successful Aboriginal Traineeship program.  
The program is currently being enhanced to 
provide ongoing employment opportunities for 
up to 30 per cent of completing trainees in each 
annual intake.

The reviewed program also provides for 
extended training and career development 
activities to assist trainees in progressing their 
careers within the Department, or throughout 
the public sector. This year, 13 opportunities 
were identified for trainees throughout the 
metropolitan area and regional branches. On 
completion of their traineeships, the majority 
of these trainees were retained in either 
substantive or fixed term positions with the 
Department.  

•

Trained mentors provide ongoing workplace 
support, encouragement and guidance to 
program participants.  Indigenous employees 
comprise 7.1 per cent of the total departmental 
workforce. 

Graduate Development Program

The Department endorsed a pilot Graduate 
Development Program for accounting/finance 
graduates. The program has been reviewed and 
expanded, along with an initial commitment for 
two graduate project officers within the Land 
and Housing Development area.

The two-year comprehensive development 
program, with a third year return-of-service 
commitment, is a strategic investment towards 
the retention of essential corporate knowledge 
and experience.

Learning and Development

The Department also continued to build 
upon previous initiatives in the development 
of its workforce through enhancements to 
its Learning and Development, Graduate 
Development and Change Management 
programs. 

•

•

We	have	developed	
an	Aboriginal	
Employment	

Strategy	to	increase	
work	opportunities	

for	indigenous	
people.	Indigenous	

employees	now	
comprise	7.1	per	cent	
of	our	total	workforce.

Sharna Mamid from 
Aboriginal Housing
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A competency profile was developed based 
on the Department’s Values and Leadership 
statements and Statement of Strategic Intent. 
This was mainly developed to inform and 
underpin a learning needs survey conducted 
with the Works and Building Services and 
Business Services portfolios. Further work 
will be done next year on staff performance 
measurement and capacity building.

In addition to the specific strategic focus on 
competencies and building a learning and 
development framework, the Department 
maintained a program of general training and 
learning and development courses including:

job application and interview training 
to support those affected by the major 
organisational change program being 
undertaken;

a tailored program for Construction Services 
and Land and Housing Development 
staff to further develop their project 
management skills;

access to training by the Green Building 
Council of Australia (Green Star Accredited 
Professional) to support the use of the 
Green Star environmental rating tool in the 
construction and design of commercial 
buildings;

staff selection skills training to support a 
new streamlined approach to recruitment;

safety awareness training (the mandatory 
Worksafe ‘Blue Card’) for those required to 
regularly visit construction sites;

continued commitment to our mandatory 
equal opportunity and substantive equality 
training program; and

a scholarship program involving 39 staff 
in disciplines such as commerce, finance, 
project management, building, and public 
housing policy.

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Change Management Program 

A new initiative during 2006 was the 
establishment of the Change Management 
unit to provide advice and support services to 
the Review and Rebuild program in relation 
to people issues. The unit’s charter is to work 
with employees at all levels to deliver change 
awareness sessions, individual counselling and 
coaching services. The unit is also responsible 
for the proactive management and placement 
of displaced employees.

Apprentice Program 
During 2006-07, our Industry Training program 
entered its second year of operation. This 
year saw expansion of the Perth metropolitan 
scheme in line with its four-year plan, and 
extension of the program into regional Western 
Australia.

The Department now has 65 metropolitan- 
based apprentices and trainees and 27 in 
regional areas in the six trades of carpentry 
and joinery, painting and decorating, glazing 
and bevelling, plumbing and gas fitting, 
air-conditioning and refrigeration, and electrical. 
These apprentices are primarily working on 
government construction and maintenance 
projects.

•

Our	Apprenticeship	
Scheme	expanded	
to	take	on	25	new	
apprentices	in	the	

metropolitan	area.	The	
Department	now	has	
over	60	apprentices	in	
the	metropolitan	area	
working	and	acquiring	

skills	in	six	trades.
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Last year, apprentices were placed primarily 
in works maintenance, and this year they are 
increasingly being placed in public works 
construction. This means that our apprentices 
are being placed with contractors and sub-
contractors who undertake to supervise and 
provide quality on-the-job training while 
building public works and infrastructure. The 
aim of the Apprentice Program is to produce 
high-quality tradespersons for the WA building 
and construction industry.

In regional Western Australia, the Department 
established trade training programs in Halls 
Creek and Hedland, and is currently developing 
a program for Fitzroy Crossing. In Halls Creek, 
eight trainees in general construction and three 
apprentices are engaged on the construction 
of housing, urban renewal projects, and 
refurbishment of the Halls Creek Hostel. In 
Hedland,10 trainees in general construction 
have been engaged on the South Hedland New 
Living project.

Our Apprentice Program has added 
approximately 90 additional trade training 
positions in WA and has received strong 
endorsement from industry, contractors, and 
from apprentices and their families. Through 
this program, the Department is making an 
effective contribution to the sustainability 
of the building and construction industry by 
fulfilling its obligations to promote careers, 
support and manage apprentices to trade 
completion, and help reduce skills shortages.

Advertising
In accordance with the disclosures required 
section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the 
Department has incurred the following 
expenditure on advertising and market research 
organisations: 

Advertising and Market 
Research

Value ($)

Advertising Agencies
- 303 Advertising Pty Ltd 10,837.16
Market Research Organisations Nil
Polling Organisations Nil

Direct Mail Organisations Nil
Mail Advertising Organisations
- Marketforce Productions 262,716.79

- Media Decisions 263,608.40
Total $5�7,162.�5

Compliance with Public 
Sector Standards and Ethical 
Codes 
The Department complies with the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994, S31 (1).

Information on the revised Public Sector 
Code of Ethics has been made available to 
all employees via the Department’s InfoNET 
system. Information on the code is provided to 
new employees via the Department’s induction 
program.

Carpenter/Joiner 
Apprentice:  

Peter Rowles

Electrical 
Apprentice: 

Sharron Page
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Procedures have been put in place to comply with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resources 
Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics, and the Department of Housing 
and Works’ Code of Conduct.  

The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for the 
reporting period are detailed in the table below:

Compliance	
issues

Significant	action	taken	to	monitor	and	ensure	compliance

Public	
Sector	

Standards	
(PSS)

Information about standards is included on InfoNET.

Raising awareness of the standards is included in the Department’s induction 
program. Materials are provided to all participants.

Awareness raising articles on the standards are a regular feature in the 
bi-monthly HR newsletter.

Awareness raising workshops on the standards were conducted in November-
December 2006.

Transactions revised by external auditor as a quality assurance process.

A review of the recruitment, selection and appointment process commenced.

Ongoing training in the recruitment, selection and appointment process was 
provided to panel members to ensure compliance with relevant standards.

Ongoing training was provided to contact officers to ensure compliance with 
relevant standards.

Six breach claims were lodged, of which five are pending review. One breach 
claim was dismissed.  

•
•

•

•

•
•
•

•

•

WA	Code	of	
Ethics

An article to raise awareness was published in the HR newsletter to advise 
employees of the revised Public Sector Code of Ethics.

A presentation on the Public Sector Code of Ethics was included in the 
Department’s induction program. Materials were provided to all participants. 

An ethics training course was piloted for managers and supervisors.

The agency released its values and leadership principles, embodying the Public 
Sector Code of Ethics, to all employees.

Values and Leadership requirements are being added to all JDFs.

A requirement to act ethically is included in all JDFs. 

Nil reports of non compliance with the WA Code of Ethics.

•

•

•
•

•
•
•

Agency	
Code	of	
Conduct

The agency’s Code of Conduct is accessible on InfoNET and hard copies have 
been circulated to all new employees.

The existing Code of Conduct is listed on InfoNET under  ‘Policies’  for easy 
access by all staff.

The DHW Code of Conduct is currently being revised and when completed, a 
hard copy will be provided to each staff member. 

Enquiries were held into suspected breaches of the Department’s Code of 
Conduct as required.

•

•

•

•
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Recordkeeping Plans/
Information Management
The Department complies with the State Records 
Act 2000. 

A review of Information Management resulted 
in a new structure to manage the transition to 
an electronic environment and improved service 
delivery.

There are a number of activities being 
undertaken in the Information Management 
area including:

preparations to commence the rollout of an 
electronic document management system 
into the Department;  

development of a recordkeeping training 
plan;  

upgrading to the new version of the 
recordkeeping system (TRIM);  

development of an application to manage 
the capture of digital photographs into the 
recordkeeping system; and  

development of the process to scan 
incoming mail.

In early 2006, the Department acquired the 
online Recordkeeping Awareness Training 
program, a recordkeeping induction program 
mandatory for all staff. This was successfully 
rolled out in September 2006.  A total of 1,482 
staff (encompassing our total workforce, which 
includes Housing Authority and Country 
Housing Authority) are enrolled in the program: 
968 staff have completed the training, 90 more 
staff have started, and 424 staff members have 
yet to commence. 

•

•

•

•

•

Government 
Policy 
Requirements
Corruption Prevention
Detection and prevention of fraud, corruption 
and misconduct are addressed under specific 
business units’ risk management activities, with 
appropriate reporting procedures established.

The Department has appropriate risk 
management policies in place that incorporate 
strategies to minimise the risk of fraud, 
misconduct and corruption. These include 
policies and guidelines for:

information access;

information security – access controls;

corrupt and improper conduct;

official hospitality;

conflict of interest;

privacy and confidentiality;

staff induction;

gifts and benefits; and

segregation of duties in relation to payments 
and other internal controls.  

These – in conjunction with audits of 
contractors, internal audit reviews and stringent 
controls on financial payments – have helped 
develop a culture of awareness relating to 
potential fraud, corruption and misconduct.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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Sustainability 

Green Building Standards

The Department has been a member of the 
Green Building Council of Australia since 2005. 
The Department is currently investigating the 
feasibility of contributing funds to help develop 
another Green Star rating tool for public 
buildings.

We are also working with the Sustainable Energy 
Development Office (SEDO) as part of a steering 
committee to implement the National Australian 
Built Environment Rating System (NABERS) 
nationally. The steering committee is led by the 
NSW Department of Environment and Climate 
Change. We are considering opportunities to 
apply the NABERS tool in public buildings in 
partnership with other relevant government 
agencies.

Government offices
Office Accommodation Policies

The Department is promoting the whole-of-
government Office Accommodation Policies 
released in August 2004. Many agencies have 
already assessed their tenancies, and modified 
buildings, equipment, and staff behaviour to 
increase their Australian Building Greenhouse 
Rating (ABGR).

Since the policy requirement for Australian 
Building Greenhouse Ratings was introduced, 70 
per cent of the 113 State government tenancies 
surveyed have achieved ratings of best practice 
or above.

•

The Department’s current policy, Policy 
14 – Sustainability and Government 
Accommodation, is being reviewed to ensure 
compliance with best national practice.

140 William St, Perth

Sustainability criteria have been incorporated 
into the development of the site at 140 
William Street. The aim is to demonstrate 
development excellence according to the 
principles of sustainability. This includes a 
commitment that the office component meets 
the requirements for a 5 Star rating under the 
Green Building Council of Australia’s Green 
Star Office tool. A 5 Star Green Star rating 
signifies ‘Australian excellence’ in environmental 
building design. The office component will 
also meet the requirements for an Australian 
Building Greenhouse Rating of 4.5 stars for the 
base building and fit-out, which represents an 
excellent energy efficiency design.

Public buildings
Sustainable non-residential government  
buildings policy and guidelines

The Department is currently developing a 
second-generation approach to delivering 
sustainable non-residential buildings. The 
new Sustainable Non-residential Government 
Buildings Policy will result in the existing clauses 
in tenders relating to energy efficiency being 
replaced with specific sustainability benchmarks 
for each project. The aim of the new policy is to 
promote best practice sustainability standards 
for non-residential buildings, using existing tools 
such as Green Star and ABGR. 

•

•

Since	the	policy	requirement	for	Australian	
Building	Greenhouse	Ratings	was	introduced,	70	per	
cent	of	the	113	State	government	tenancies	surveyed	

have	achieved	ratings	of	best	practice	or	above.
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Pinnacles Interpretative Centre

The Pinnacles Interpretative Centre has been 
designed using environmentally sustainable 
principles. The interpretative centre, a visitors’ 
services building and a ticket booth and support 
building have been sensitively sited just over the 
hill from the iconic Pinnacles, near Cervantes. In 
addition to proper orientation, the buildings use 
internal limestone walls to create a large thermal 
mass to control temperatures. The project is 
designed to be self-sufficient by collecting 
rainwater and using power generated from 
photovoltaic cells.  Wastewater is treated onsite 
using a largely passive biological treatment 
system.

Fiona Stanley Hospital

The proposed Fiona Stanley Hospital (FSH) 
represents an opportunity to develop a world-
class facility that will be a leader in clinical care, 
research and education. The hospital is designed 
to be a landmark project demonstrating 
excellence in architecture, urban design and 
sustainability. Environmentally sustainable 
principles will be incorporated into its design, 
construction, and operation. A high-quality 
indoor environment will be provided with 
respect to daylight, views, air quality, thermal 
comfort and connectivity to outdoors.

The hospital precinct will also feature 
commercial areas, retail spaces, food and 
beverage venues, a gym, and community and 
childcare facilities.

The Fiona Stanley Hospital site master planning, 
conceptual design and ancillary services will 
aim to achieve a minimum 4.5 Green Star 
(Healthcare) rating under the Green Building 
Council of Australia (pilot) scheme.

•

•

Office of the Government 
Architect

Wungong Urban Water

The Wungong Urban Water project is an 
innovative and sustainable residential 
development being undertaken by the 
Armadale Redevelopment Authority in the 
south-eastern corridor of Perth. The Office of 
the Government Architect was commissioned 
to prepare the Wungong Urban Water Built 
Form Report and guidelines. The objective is to 
improve the configuration of development sites 
and buildings to achieve a quality built form and 
sustainability.

Ningaloo design competition

The Government Architect and the Gascoyne 
Development Commission have initiated and 
part-funded an architectural competition to 
investigate environmentally sustainable options 
for tourism developments in the Cape Range 
National Park near Exmouth. The area has been 
identified as an eco-lodge tourism area within 
the Ningaloo Coast Regional Strategy. Entrants 
in the competition will be asked to design 
culturally relevant, high-quality environmentally 
sustainable designs for a hypothetical eco-resort 
on a selected site. The proposals are expected 
to provide a benchmark for future tourism 
developments in remote areas of Australia.

Perth Arena

The Government Architect and design 
consultants are investigating the possibility of 
integrating photovoltaic panels into the roof of 
the Perth Arena project. The PV cells will support 
the energy requirements of the building and 
generate electricity to be fed back into the grid. 
Its location and visibility mean the installation 
of a photovoltaic array will make the Perth 
Arena an ideal demonstration project for the 
incorporation of solar technology into public 
buildings.

•

•

•

Perth	Arena
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Sustainability	Action	Plan
Waste

The Department has carried out a waste 
management audit that has made 
recommendations on waste avoidance, waste 
reduction, recycling, and education and 
training. 

The largest sources of recoverable waste 
identified were office paper, readily 
biodegradable material and recoverable 
paper. The Department has taken a pragmatic 
approach to this issue and actively recycles 
waste office paper, office machine cartridges, 
and – where practical – aluminium cans.

The appointment of waste wardens is being 
considered to improve awareness and waste 
management practices.

Energy

The Department monitors and reports on its 
energy consumption against the government 
benchmarks established by the Energy Smart 
Government Program. Modifications to its 
office buildings – including upgrades to lifts, air 
conditioning, lighting and sub-metering – have 
been done this year.

Water

The Department has located and repaired 
water leaks, and is installing dual-flush toilets 
this year to reduce water consumption at the 
Department’s head office building at 99 Plain 
Street, East Perth. Major government buildings 
managed by the Department, including Dumas 
House in West Perth and 189 Royal Street in East 
Perth, are being retro-fitted with water-saving 
features such as dual-flush toilets.

The NABERS tool is now available for landlords 
and building owners to self-assess existing 
office buildings for water use, and the 
Department is currently reviewing its policies to 
mandate minimum water efficiency standards 
for government offices.

•

•

•

Vehicles and Travel

Under the Department’s Motor Vehicle 
Allocation policy, all new metropolitan 
government vehicles are four-cylinder cars. 
In regional locations, the allocation of four-
cylinder vehicles is determined according to 
needs and distance travelled.

TravelSmart

We are participating in the State Government’s 
TravelSmart Workplace Program, and developed 
a Green Transport Plan in 2006 with input from 
staff. 

The TravelSmart committee is now progressing 
and implementing actions in the plan, which 
includes promoting healthy, active and 
environmentally friendly travel options for staff.

A major action identified in the Green Transport 
Plan was improving shower and change-room 
facilities for staff cycling, jogging or walking to 
work. The upgrading of these facilities has now 
been completed. The Green Transport Plan is 
scheduled for review at the end of 2007.

•

•

A	major	action	
identified	in	the	Green	

Transport	Plan	was	
improving	shower	and	

change-room	facilities	for	
staff	cycling,	jogging	or	

walking	to	work
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Auditor General’s Opinion
INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION

 To the Parliament of Western Australia 

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED �0 JUNE 2007 

I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators of the 
Department of Housing and Works. 

The financial statements comprise the Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2007, and the Income Statement, 
Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, 
and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then 
ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory Notes. 

The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency. 

Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance 
Indicators 

The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and the key 
performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and key performance 
indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances; and complying with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other relevant written 
law. 

Summary of my Role 

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This was done by 
testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further information on my audit 
approach is provided in my audit practice statement. Refer “http://www.audit.wa.gov.au/pubs/Audit-
Practice-Statement.pdf”. 

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements and key 
performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises that an audit does 
not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit procedures should identify errors 
or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of users of the financial statements 
and key performance indicators.
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Department of Housing and Works 
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended �0 June 2007

Audit Opinion 
In my opinion, 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

COLIN MURPHY  
AUDITOR GENERAL  
31 August 2007

the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the 
financial position of the Department of Housing and Works at 30 June 2007 and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions; 

the controls exercised by the Department provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the 
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions; and 

the key performance indicators of the Department are relevant and appropriate to 
help users assess the Department’s performance and fairly represent the indicated 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2007.
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Certification

Certification of Performance Indicators

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, 
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the performance of the 
Department of Housing and Works, and fairly represent the performance of the 
Department of Housing and Works for the financial year ended 30 June 2007.

R J MITCHELL 
DIRECTOR GENERAL  
ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY

31 August 2007



45Department of Housing and Works  2 0 0 6 - 0 7  A n n u a l  R e p o r t
 © Department of Housing and Works 2007

Performance 
Indicators

The performance indicators in this report are produced in order to evaluate the Department 
of Housing and Works’ performance in achieving its outcome.  The key effectiveness indicators 
provide information on the extent to which the outcome has been achieved through the 
production of agreed outputs.  The efficiency indicators relate services to the level of resource 
inputs required to produce them.  The outcome and performance indicators were established 
in the 2003-2004 financial year.

Outcome: Government buildings and accommodation delivered, managed and   
  maintained at agreed standards.

Goal two of the Strategic Planning Framework for the Western Australian Public Sector, is to 
develop a strong economy that delivers more jobs, more opportunities and greater wealth 
to Western Australians by creating the conditions required for investment and growth.  
The delivery, management and maintenance of the built environment provide impetus 
in the construction and property maintenance industries.  This in turn, creates sustainable 
communities, strong metropolitan and regional development for the benefit of all Western 
Australians.

The Department contributes to this goal by delivering, managing and maintaining 
non-residential buildings across Western Australia on behalf of the Minister for Works.

A wide range of services are provided to facilitate the State Government’s capital works and 
maintenance programs.  These services include:

A coordinated and specialist approach to the planning and management of the State 
Government’s non-residential capital works and office accommodation requirements.

Responsibility for managing the Government’s exposure to building and construction 
related risk and performing all commercial interface roles in architecture and building 
where appropriate.

Maintenance of appropriate contracting and building standards for the delivery of the 
State Government’s non-residential capital works program.

Establishment and maintenance of appropriate office and building standards for the State 
Government’s accommodation needs.

 The Department participates in partnerships with private sector service providers.  
Capital works and non-residential projects are designed by private sector architects and 
constructed by commercial builders under contract to and managed by the Department.

•

•

•

•

•
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Determination of Customer Satisfaction

Customer satisfaction surveys are based on the use of a 7-point Likert scale.  The response rating is 
based on the proportion of respondents surveyed that were satisfied.   Respondents were asked to 
provide a rating of the Department’s services ranging from very satisfied to very dissatisfied.  All not 
applicable or don’t know responses were excluded from the satisfaction rating.

A satisfied respondent for a particular question is defined as a person providing a response in the 
range of, very satisfied to slightly satisfied inclusive.  The number of responses to a question falling in 
this range, divided by the total number of valid responses to the question, is taken as a percentage 
and reported as the client satisfaction rating.

The following key performance indicator measures the effectiveness of the Department in achieving 
the above outcome.

EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR

The extent to which the Department of Housing and Works has delivered, managed and 
maintained government buildings and accommodation to agreed standards.

Through ongoing partnerships, the Department is working closely with its key client agencies to 
deliver improvements in the delivery of its services to the satisfaction of the client.

For the past five years, the Department has undertaken independent research among executive-
level officers at client agencies.  The research monitors the changes in attitudes and perceptions of 
executive-level officers towards the Department.  The agreed standards are benchmarks defined as 
per the requirements of the Department of Treasury and Finance and client agencies.  The surveys 
have been conducted by an independent research agency and are a measure of client satisfaction.

Survey statistics are derived from 97 per cent response rate of a sample size of 37 (79 per cent of 
population) with 12, in number, of not applicable or don’t know responses received.  The maximum 
sampling accuracy at 95 per cent confidence level of ±4.59 per cent ensured that the results were 
representative and stable.

Actual 2004-05 Actual 2005-06 Actual 2006-07 Target 2006-07
65% 66% 75% 75%

The improved result reflects the impact of the Department’s reform program promoted through the 
new executive team and continued client focus.



47Department of Housing and Works  2 0 0 6 - 0 7  A n n u a l  R e p o r t
 © Department of Housing and Works 2007

EFFICIENCY INDICATORS

Delivery, management and maintenance of Government building, projects and office 
accommodation. 

The management services provided by the department are for the delivery of public buildings, 
infrastructure assets, Government’s office accommodation portfolio, projects and the on-going 
management of Government properties. Policy development and advice to Government with regard 
to its building construction activities are included.

The Department measures its efficiency in delivering these to its clients at the lowest cost through 
the following indicators.

Efficiency Indicators

1.1 Project Delivery: Cost per million dollars of value of capital works projects delivered.

The cost for project delivery includes the total costs allocated to this service, including all overheads.  
The total cost is taken as a proportion of the value, in millions of dollars, of works delivered by the 
Department.

The efficiency measure is a key factor in evaluating the cost of the service provided to client 
(Government) agencies in relation to the value of works projects managed.

The value of works billed (invoiced) recovers the expenditure on consultant and builder contracts for 
capital and other non-residential building works.

Actual 2004-05 Actual 2005-06 Actual 2006-07 Target 2006-07
$26,840 $25,392 $22,727 $24,488

This is a good result showing that the Department has been able to substantially reduce its costs per 
million dollars of project delivery.

 1.2 Property Management: Cost per million dollars of gross rentals of buildings and office  
 accommodation managed.

The cost for property management includes the total costs allocated to this service, including all 
overheads. The total cost is taken as a proportion of the gross rental payments, in millions of dollars, 
of buildings and accommodation managed. 

Within the cost for property management, the Department also provides management service for 
precincts, properties or contiguous sites where several agencies may have an interest or presence.  
Precincts may be places where ownership is unclear or transitional.
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The efficiency measure is a key factor in determining the input required to provide this service to 
assist agencies and Government.

Actual 2004-05 Actual 2005-06 Actual 2006-07 Target 2006-07
$285,586 $221,677 $272,141 $311,988

The Department has been able to deliver the property management program 10% less than the 
initial target value.

1.� Maintenance: Cost per million dollars of value of minor works and maintenance   
 services delivered.

The cost for maintenance includes the total costs allocated to this service, including all overheads. 
The total cost is taken as a proportion of the value, in millions of dollars, of minor works and 
maintenance delivered by the Department.

Included in the total costs are those associated with a call centre; contract development and 
management for minor works, breakdown repairs and maintenance jobs.

Actual 2004-05 Actual 2005-06 Actual 2006-07 Target 2006-07
$100,301 $99,360 $85,785 $117,434

 This is a good result showing that the Department has been able to reduce costs across the 
maintenance and minor improvement program.
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Financial 
Statements

Certification of Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Housing and Works have 
been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 
from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the 
financial year ending 30 June 2007 and the financial position as at 30 June 2007.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

_________________________

R. J. Mitchell 
Director General 
Accountable Authority

_________________________

R. Leslie 
Acting Chief Finance Officer

31 August 2007
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

Note
2007 2006
$000 $000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Supplies and services 7 669,900 525,758
Employee benefits expenses 8 20,427 18,164
Capital user charge 9 15,832 14,658
Depreciation and amortisation expense 10 6,735 4,512
Accommodation expenses 11 1,149 1,040
Other expenses 12 1,119 395
Total cost of services 715,162 564,527

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 13 701,555 534,508
Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 237 375
Other revenue 15 22 4,471

Total revenue 701,814 539,354

Total income other than income from State Government 701,814 539,354
NET COST OF SERVICES 13,348 25,173

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 16
Service appropriation 36,266 34,711
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 731 803
Resources received free of charge 539 384

Total income from State Government 37,536 35,898

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 24,188 10,725

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

Note
2007 2006
$000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets (restated)

Cash and cash equivalents 28 62,881 49,887
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17 16,645 2,125
Receivables 18 62,255 36,852
Inventories 20 32,036 36,165
Amounts receivable for services 19 25 -                 
Total Current Assets 173,842 125,029

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17 108 51
Amounts receivable for services 19 17,268 13,895
Property, plant and equipment 21 337,291 222,511
Intangible assets 22 - 161
Total Non-Current Assets 354,667 236,618

TOTAL ASSETS 528,509 361,647

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 24 16,031 17,841
Provisions 25 3,961 3,137
Other payables 26 83,978 72,422
Total Current Liabilities 103,970 93,400

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 25 1,313 1,387
Lease incentive 39,142 21,665
Total Non-Current Liabilities 40,455 23,052

Total Liabilities 144,425 116,452

NET ASSETS 384,084 245,195

EQUITY 27

Contributed equity 61,410 40,410
Reserves 129,785 36,084
Accumulated surplus 192,889 168,701

TOTAL EQUITY 384,084 245,195

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 528,509 361,647

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

Note
2007 2006
$000 $000

(restated)

Balance of equity at start of period 245,195 203,214

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 27
Balance at start of period 40,410 18,564
Capital contribution 21,000 4,176
Other contributions by owners - 25,060
Distributions to owners - (7,390)
Balance at end of period 61,410 40,410

RESERVES 27
Asset revaluation reserve
Balance at start of period 36,084 26,674
Gains from asset revaluation 93,701 9,410
Balance at end of period 129,785 36,084

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
(RETAINED EARNINGS) 27
Balance at start of period 168,701 157,976
Surplus for the period 24,188 10,725
Balance at end of period 192,889 168,701

Balance of equity at end of period 384,084 245,195

Total income and expense for the period 117,889 20,135

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

Note
2007 2006
$000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 32,843 31,288
Capital contributions 21,000 4,176
Holding account drawdowns 25 25
Receipts from Treasurer's Advance 30,000 35,000
Payments to Treasurer's Advance (30,000) (35,000)
Net cash provided by State Government 53,868 35,489

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (19,184) (16,565)
Supplies and services (675,184) (543,539)
Capital user charge (15,832) (14,658)
Accommodation (1,149) (1,040)
GST payments on purchases (69,321) (53,202)
GST payments to the taxation authority (11,145) (4,844)
Other payments (1,061) (909)

Receipts
User charges and fees 694,116 553,775
Commonwealth grants and contributions 237 375
GST receipts on sales 78,026 56,652
GST receipts from the taxation authority 4,105 3,197
Other receipts 17,692 1,888
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 28 1,300 (18,870)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets (27,654) (7,852)
Net cash used in investing activities (27,654) (7,852)

Net increase in cash held 27,514 8,767

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 52,012 43,245

28 79,526 52,012

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF PERIOD
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

2007 2007 2007 2006
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 73 net amount appropriated to deliver services 34,426 36,266 1,840 36,266 34,711 1,555
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 34,426 36,266 1,840 36,266 34,711 1,555

CAPITAL
Item 155 capital contribution 30,450 21,000 (9,450) 21,000 4,176 16,824

ADMINISTERED TRANSACTIONS
Items 74, 75, 76 & 77 administered grants, 
subsidies and other transfer payments 31,710 31,710 - 31,710 - 31,710
Total administered transactions 31,710 31,710 - 31,710 - 31,710

GRAND TOTAL 96,586 88,976 (7,610) 88,976 38,887 50,089

Details of Expenses by Service
Delivery, management and maintenance of Government 
buildings, projects, and office accommodation 761,648 715,162 (46,486) 715,162 564,527 150,635
Total cost of services 761,648 715,162 (46,486) 715,162 564,527 150,635
Less total income (727,021) (701,814) (25,207) (701,814) (539,354) (162,460)
Net cost of services 34,627 13,348 (21,279) 13,348 25,173 (11,825)
Adjustments (a) (201) 22,918 23,119 22,918 9,538 13,380
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 34,426 36,266 1,840 36,266 34,711 1,555

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 30,450 27,654 (2,796) 27,654 7,852 19,802
Expenditure on projects funded through capital 
appropriations

-                   
-                   -                  -                  

Repayment of borrowings -                   
Adjustments for other funding sources - (6,654) (6,654) (6,654) (3,676) (2,978)
Capital contribution (appropriation) 30,450 21,000 (9,450) 21,000 4,176 16,824

DETAILS OF INCOME ESTIMATES
Revenues disclosed as Administered Income 13,600 18,607 5,007 18,607 14,141 4,466

(a) Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations, Variance to Budget and Actual should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.

Note 35 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2007 and between the actual 
results for 2006 and 2007."
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 

1. Departmental Mission and Funding 

The Department's mission is to respond to the hopes of all Western Australians for their housing and 
construction needs. 

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations. Revenues controlled by the 
Department are net appropriated under the Financial Administration and Audit (Net Appropriation) 
Determination 2003, which causes all revenue controlled by the Department to be subject to net 
appropriation in the 2006/2007 financial year. The financial statements encompass all funds through 
which the Department controls resources to carry on its functions. 

2. Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 

The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2007 have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), which 
comprise a Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the Framework) 
and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations).  

In preparing these financial statements the Department has adopted, where relevant to its operations, 
new and revised Standards and Interpretations from their operative dates as issued by the AASB and 
formerly the Urgent Issues Group (UIG). 

Early adoption of standards 

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting 
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements’.  No Standards and Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are 
not yet effective have been early adopted by the Department for the annual reporting period ended 30 
June 2007.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) General Statement

The financial statements constitute a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in 
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as 
applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to 
vary application, disclosure, format and working. 

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board. 

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

(b) Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standard AAS 29 
“Financial Reporting by Government Departments” on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure which have 
been measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($'000). 
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Department’s accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed 
at note 4 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’. 

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed at note 5 ‘Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty’. 

(c) Reporting entity 

The reporting entity comprises the Department of Housing and Works. 

The Department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government, which are 
not controlled by, nor integral to the function of the Department. These administered balances and 
transactions are not recognised in the principal financial statements of the Department but schedules are 
prepared using the same basis as the financial statements and are presented at notes 36 ‘Administered 
expenses and income’ and note 37 ‘Administered assets and liabilities’. 

(d) Contributed Equity 

UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ 
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owner) 
as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as 
equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by 
owners by Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public 
Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 

Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the 
transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.  See note 27 ‘Equity’. 

(e) Income 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for 
the major business activities as follows: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Rendering of services 
Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of 
completion. 

Service Appropriations 
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Department gains control 
of the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds 
are deposited into the Department’s bank account or credited to the holding account held at the 
Department of Treasury and Finance. See note 16 ‘Income from State Government’ for further detail. 

Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services 
under the control of the Department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2006-2007 
Budget Statements, the Department retained $794 million in 2007 ($616 million in 2006) from the 
following:

Provision of contract services; 
Executive vehicle scheme; 
GST input credits; 
GST receipts on sales; 
Rental income sufficient to cover outgoings paid for government owned buildings; and 
Other departmental revenue. 
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, which is usually when cash is received. 

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the 
services would be purchased if not donated. 

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition 
that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were 
undischarged as at the balance sheet date, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged 
conditions are disclosed in the notes.

Gains
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $1,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of property, plant and equipment 
costing less than $1,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Income Statement (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total). 

Initial recognition and measurement 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is 
their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement
After recognition as an asset, the Department uses the revaluation model for the measurement of land 
and buildings; and the cost model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are 
carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and accumulated impairment losses. All 
other items of property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 
current market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions.  When buildings 
are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

Where market evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis 
of existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. 
Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.  Where the fair value of 
buildings is dependent on using the depreciated replacement cost, the gross carrying amount and the 
accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately.  

Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised with sufficient regularity to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the balance sheet date. 

Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the depreciated replacement cost 
(existing use basis) as the assets are specialised and no market-based evidence of value is available. 
Land under infrastructure is included in land reported under Property, plant and equipment. Independent 
valuations are obtained on an annual basis. 

When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the 
change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after 
revaluation equals its revalued amount.  
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The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the 
existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgment by the valuer 
is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and 
existing use assets. 

Refer to note 21 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on revaluations. 

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method, using 
rates, which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

Buildings 10 to 40 years 
Heritage assets 100 years 
Plant and equipment 10 years 
Computer hardware  3 years 
Air conditioning 10 years 
Office furniture and fittings  10 years 
Office machines and equipment  5 years 

(g) Intangible Assets 

Computer Software 

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. 
Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less that $1,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.  

Significant costs associated with the acquisition or development of computer software are initially 
recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is their fair value 
at the date of acquisition. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in 
use, or more frequently when an indicator of impairment arises during the reporting year indicating that 
the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected 
benefit (estimated useful life) on the straight-line basis using rates, which are reviewed annually. All 
intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The 
expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 

Computer software  5 years 

(h) Impairment of Assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at each 
reporting date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where 
the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Department is a 
not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. 
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of that asset’s future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 
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The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  Surplus assets carried 
at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market 
evidence.  

Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of 
impairment and the recoverable amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at each balance sheet date. 

See note 3(o) ‘Receivables’ and note 23 ‘Impairment of Assets’. 

(i) Leases 

The Department has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for the rental of properties 
and motor vehicles where the lessor effectively retains all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership 
of the items held under the operating leases. Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to the 
Income Statement over the lease term, as this is representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived 
from the leased property. 

(j) Financial Instruments 

The Department has two categories of financial instrument: 
 Receivables (cash and cash equivalents, receivables); and 
 Non-trading financial liabilities (payables and Treasurer’s Advance) 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value, which normally equates to 
the transaction cost or the face value.  

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material.  

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes restricted cash and cash 
equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash, and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(l) Accrued Salaries 

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 17 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of 
amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the 
additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No 
interest is received on this account. 

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the end 
of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued 
salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year-end. The Department considers the carrying 
amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value. 

(m) Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account) 

The Department receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash 
and non-cash cost of services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding 
Account receivable) that is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items 
such as leave entitlements and asset replacement. 

See also note 16 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 19 ’Amounts receivable for services’. 
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(n) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned by the method 
most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on average cost 
basis. 

Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they 
are valued at net realisable value. 

See note 20 ‘Inventories’. 

(o) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance provision for 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off. The allowance for uncollectible 
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department will not be able 
to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as it is due for settlement within 14 
days. See note 3(j) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 18 ‘Receivables’. 

(p) Payables 

Payables are recognised when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a 
purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally 
settled within 30 days. See note 3(j) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 24 ‘Payables’. 

(q) Amounts Due to the Treasurer 

The amount due to the Treasurer is in respect of a Treasurer’s Advance.  Initial recognition and 
measurement, and subsequent measurement is at the amount repayable. Although there is no interest 
charged the amount repayable is equivalent to fair value as the period of the borrowing is for less than 
12 months with the effect of discounting not being material.  

(r) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present 
legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. See note 25 ‘Provisions’. 

(i) Provisions - Employee Benefits 
Annual Leave and Long Service Leave 
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the 
end of the balance sheet date is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be settled 
more than 12 months after the end of the balance sheet date is measured at the present value of 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the balance sheet date. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In 
addition, the long service leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. 

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current 
liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
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Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers the following 
superannuation schemes. 

Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed 
to new members or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum 
scheme also closed to new members. The Department has no liabilities for superannuation 
charges under the Pension or the GSS Schemes as the liability has been assumed by the 
Treasurer.  

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who are not members of either the 
Pension or the GSS Schemes became non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 
became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumulation 
schemes. The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in 
compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) 
Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the 
WSS and GESBS Schemes. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is 
recouped by the Treasurer for the employer’s share. 

See also note 3(s) ‘Superannuation expense’. 

(ii) Provisions - Other 

Employment On-Costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits 
and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they 
relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not 
included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is 
included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. See note 12 ‘Other Expenses’ and note 25 
‘Provisions’.

Restoration Costs 
A provision is recognised where the Department has a legal, equitable or constructive obligation 
to undertake restoration work. Estimates are based on the present value of expected future cash 
outflows.

A site rehabilitation account has been established to provide for costs of rehabilitating the Mt 
Walton disposal site after the final intractable waste operation takes place in the future. This 
provision will be added to each time a disposal operation occurs, ensuring the site will be 
appropriately restored. See note 25 ‘Provisions’ and note 30 ‘Contingent Liabilities’. 

(s) Superannuation Expense 

The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the Income Statement: 

(a) Defined benefit plans - Change in the unfunded employer’s liability (i.e. current service cost and, 
actuarial gains and losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of current employees who are 
members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from 
that Scheme to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS); and 

(b) Defined contribution plans - Employer contributions paid to the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS), GESB Super Scheme (GESBS), and the equivalent of employer contributions to 
the GSS. 

Defined benefit plans - in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements (i.e. current service 
cost and, actuarial gains and losses) in the liabilities in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS 
Scheme transfer benefits are recognised as expenses directly in the Income Statement. As these 
liabilities are assumed by the Treasurer, a revenue titled ‘Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer’ 
equivalent to the expense is recognised under Income from State Government in the Income Statement. 
See note 16 ‘Income from State Government’. 
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Defined contribution plans - in order to reflect the Department’s true cost of services, the Department is
funded for the equivalent of employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme (excluding transfer 
benefits). These contributions were paid to the GESB during the year and placed in a trust account 
administered by the GESB on behalf of the Treasurer. The GESB subsequently paid these employer 
contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme to the Consolidated Fund. 

The GSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting. However, apart from the transfer benefit, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes 
because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the agency to GESB extinguishes 
the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability. 

(t) Resources Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Cost 

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as 
income and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value. 

(u) Construction Work in Progress 

Construction work in progress is stated at the aggregate of contract costs incurred to date plus 
recognised profits less recognised losses and progress billings.  If there are contracts where progress 
billings exceed the aggregate costs incurred plus profits less losses, the net amounts are presented under 
other payables.  

Contract costs include all costs directly related to specific contracts, costs that are specifically 
chargeable to the customer under the terms of the contract and an allocation of overhead expenses 
incurred in connection with the Department’s construction activities in general. 

(v) Lease Incentives 

In instances where the lessor has provided incentives for the Department to enter into an operating lease, 
the Department has recognised the aggregate benefit of incentives as a reduction of rental expense over 
the lease term, on a straight-line basis.  Examples of lease incentives include up-front cash payments or 
the reimbursement or assumption by the lessor of costs of the lease such as leasehold improvements.

(w) Comparative Figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in 
the current financial year.  

4 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements include: 

Operating Lease Commitment 

The Department has entered into a commercial lease and has determined that the lessor retains all the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property. Accordingly, the lease has been classified as 
an operating lease. 

Recognition and Valuation of Heritage and Cultural Assets 

The recognition and valuation of Heritage and Cultural Assets of the Department are based on fair value 
supplied by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). Management 
takes the view that fair value provides a more reliable and relevant determination.  
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5 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

An environmental analysis is being obtained to provide a quantifiable estimate of the amount required to 
rehabilitate the Mt Walton intractable waste disposal site. 

Other key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the balance sheet date do not have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

6 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

The department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting 
Interpretations effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2006: 

1. AASB 2005-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 4, AASB 1023, 
AASB 139 and AASB 132]’ (Financial guarantee contracts).  The amendment deals with 
the treatment of financial guarantee contracts, credit insurance contracts, letters of credit 
or credit derivative default contracts as either an “insurance contract” under AASB 4 
‘Insurance Contracts’ or as a “financial guarantee contract” under AASB 139 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.  The Department does not currently 
undertake these types of transactions, resulting in no financial impact in applying the 
Standard.

2. UIG Interpretation 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease’ as issued 
in June 2005. This Interpretation deals with arrangements that comprise a transaction or a 
series of linked transactions that may not involve a legal form of a lease but by their 
nature are deemed to be leases for the purposes of applying AASB 117 ‘Leases’.  At 
balance sheet date, the Department has not entered into any arrangements as specified in 
the Interpretation, resulting in no impact in applying the Interpretation.  

3. UIG Interpretation 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives’. This Interpretation 
requires an embedded derivative that has been combined with a non-derivative to be 
separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative in certain 
circumstances. At balance sheet date, the department has not entered into any contracts as 
specified in the Interpretation resulting in no impact in applying the Interpretation. 

The following Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are not applicable to the Department 
as they will have no impact or do not apply: 

AASB Standards and Interpretations
____________________________________________________________________________________
2005-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard’ (AASB 139 - Cash flow hedge 

accounting of forecast intragroup transactions) 
2005-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1 & AASB 139]’ 
2006-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 121]’  
2006-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1045]’ 
2006-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 134]’ 
2007-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 12 

[AASB 1, AASB 117, AASB 118, AASB 120, AASB 121, AASB 127, AASB 131 & 
AASB 139]’ – paragraph 9  

UIG 5  ‘Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental 
Rehabilitation Funds’ 

UIG 6  ‘Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific market – Waste Electrical and 
Electronic Equipment’ 
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting 
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements’.  Consequently, the Department has not applied the following Australian 
Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet 
effective.
These will be applied from their application date:  

1. AASB 7 ‘ Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (including consequential amendments in 
AASB 2005-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 
101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 
and AASB 1038]’).  This Standard requires new disclosures in relation to financial 
instruments.  The Standard is considered to result in increased disclosures, both 
quantitative and qualitative of the Department’s exposure to risks, enhanced disclosure 
regarding components of the Department’s financial position and performance, and 
possible changes to the way of presenting certain items in the financial statements, but 
otherwise there is no financial impact. The standard is required to be applied to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. 

2. AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. This Standard was revised and issued 
in October 2006 so that AASB 101 has the same requirements as IAS 1 ‘Presentation of 
Financial Statements’ (as issued by the IASB) in respect of for-profit entities. The 
Department is a not-for-profit entity and consequently does not expect any financial 
impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be applied to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. 

3. AASB 2007-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from ED 151 
and Other Amendments (AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 102, 107, 108, 110, 112, 114, 116, 117, 
118, 119, 120, 121, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 139, 141, 1023 
& 1038)’. This Standard introduces policy options and modifies disclosures. These 
amendments arise as a result of the AASB decision that, in principle, all options that 
currently exist under IFRSs should be included in the Australian equivalents to IFRSs 
and additional Australian disclosures should be eliminated, other than those now 
considered particularly relevant in the Australian reporting environment. The Department 
of Treasury and Finance has indicated that it will mandate to remove the policy options 
added by this amending Standard. This will result in no impact as a consequence of 
application of the Standard. The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007. 

4. AASB 2007-5 ‘Amendment to Australian Accounting Standard – Inventories Held for 
Distribution by Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 102)’. This amendment changes AASB 
102 ‘Inventories’ so that inventories held for distribution by not-for-profit entities are 
measured at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential. The Standard 
is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007.  

The following Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are not applicable to the Department 
as they will have no impact or do not apply: 

AASB Standards and Interpretations
___________________________________________________________________________
AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments’  
AASB 1049 ‘Financial Reporting of General Government Sectors by Governments’ 
AASB 2007-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 

Interpretation 11 [AASB 2]’ 
AASB 2007-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 

Interpretation 12 [AASB 1, AASB 117, AASB 118, AASB 120, AASB 
121, AASB 127, AASB 131 & AASB 139]’ – paragraphs 1 to 8 

AASB 2007-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8 
[AASB 5, AASB 6, AASB 102, AASB 107, AASB 119, AASB 127, 
AASB 134, AASB 136, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]’ 

Interpretation 10 ‘Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment’ 
Interpretation 11 ‘AASB 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions’
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2007 2006
$000 $000

7 Supplies and services

Managed contracts 666,275 514,723
Consultants and contractors 2,129 4,550
Maintenance and repairs 302 4,984
Government leasing expense 147 186
Motor vehicles 553 606
Consumables 259 295
Communications 82 101
Other 153 313

669,900 525,758

8 Employee benefits expenses

Wages and salaries 15,676 13,656
Superannuation - defined contribution plans 1,543 1,460
Superannuation - defined benefit plans 731 803
Long service leave 892 819
Annual leave 1,585 1,426

20,427 18,164

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d) Includes a superannuation contribution component

9 Capital user charge 15,832 14,658

10 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Buildings 4,961 2,890
Office machines and equipment 22 24
Furniture and Fittings 2 -
Computer hardware 4 -
Plant and equipment 4 5
Leasehold Improvements 1,581 1,432
Total depreciation 6,574 4,351
Amortisation
Intangible assets 161 161
Total depreciation and amortisation 6,735 4,512

The charge was a levy applied by Government for the use of its capital. In 2006-07, the final year in which the
charge was levied, a single payment was made equal to the appropriation for 2006-07 less any adjustment
relating to 2005-06.

Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (Contributions paid)
Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme and Gold State (pre-transfer benefit).
An equivalent notional income is also recognised (see note 16 'Income from State Government').

Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 12 'Other expenses'. The
employment on-costs liability is included at note 25 'Provisions'

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

(d)
(d)

(a)

(b) (c)
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2007 2006
$000 $000

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

11 Accommodation expenses

Lease rentals 1,149 1,040

12 Other expenses

Employment on-costs 1,013 855
Doubtful Debts Expense - (488)
Cost of Goods Sold 106 28

1,119 395

(a)

13 User charges and fees

Fees for managed building works 25,845 17,212
Managed building works 562,097 413,293
Miscellaneous services 4,594 3,865
Rents for Government office accommodation 109,019 100,138

701,555 534,508

14 Commonwealth grants and contributions 237 375

15 Other revenue
Executive vehicle scheme 22 26
Reversal of impairment charge - 4,445

22 4,471

Includes workers compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated
with the recognition of annual and long service liability is included at note 25 'Provisions'. Superannuation
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in
employment on-costs.

(a)
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2007 2006
$000 $000
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16 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriations 36,266 34,711

- Superannuation 731 803

Total Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 731 803

Resources received free of charge
Department of Justice 153 91
Department of Education and Training 7 6
Department of Land Information 379 287

539 384

37,536 35,898

(a)

(b)

(c)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by 
agencies:

Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of services delivered. The appropriation
revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises
the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is a notional income to match the notional
superannuation expense reported in respect of current employees who are members of the pension scheme
and current employees who have a transfer benefit entitlement under the Gold State Superannuation
Scheme. (The notional superannuation expense is disclosed at note 8 'Employee Benefits Expense').

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the Department recognises
revenues (except where the contributions of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by owners
in which case the Department shall make a direct adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair value of the
assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and which would have been
purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.

The following liabilities have been assumed by 
the Treasurer during the financial year:

(a)

(b)

(c)
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2007 2006
$000 $000
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17 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current
Fitout contribution 16,645 2,125
Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account 108 51

16,753 2,176

(a)

(b)

18 Receivables

Receivables 35,411 19,996
Prepayments 8,986 7,965
Accrued revenues 14,786 7,247
Property manager's trust 3,072 1,644

62,255 36,852

(a)

19 Amounts receivable for services

Current 25 -                   
Non-current 17,268 13,895

17,293 13,895

20 Inventories

Inventories held for resale 82 77

Construction work in progress
Contract costs incurred and recognised
profits less recognised losses 514,418 537,330
Progress billing (482,464) (501,242)

32,036 36,165

See also note 26  'Other Payables'

Amount held in suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial
year that occurs every 11 years.

This is the amount held in trust by the Department's corporate property manager that manages the rental
services for the Department.

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations {see note 3(m) 'Amounts receivable for services
(Holding Account)}'. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave
liability.

Building owners contribution received to fund fitout works for re-location of government agencies.

(a)

(b)

(a)
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2007 2006
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

21 Property, plant and equipment (restated)

Land
Land at fair value (a) 82,937 120,492
Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors (16,648)
Restated Balance 82,937 103,844

Building
Buildings at fair value (a) 217,245 130,634
Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors (b) (30,734)
Restated Balance 217,245 99,900

Accumulated depreciation (4,961) (2,890)
212,284 97,010

Total properties (including land and buildings) 295,221 200,854

Office furniture and fittings at cost 18 -                   
Accumulated depreciation (2) -                   

16 -                   

Office machines and equipment at cost 128 140
Accumulated depreciation (126) (118)

2 22

Computer hardware at cost 16 -                   
Accumulated depreciation (4) -                   

12 -                   

Plant and equipment at cost 36 1,313
Accumulated depreciation (10) (30)

26 1,283

Building improvements in progress at cost
Building improvements 24,211 4,447

24,211 4,447

Leasehold improvements 21,006 17,527
Accumulated depreciation (3,203) (1,622)

17,803 15,905

337,291 222,511

(a)

(b)

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2006 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2007 and recognised
at 30 June 2007. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values.
(See note 3(f) 'Property, Plant and Equipment').

To ensure the valuations provided by Valuation Services were compliant at 30 June 2007 with the fair 
value requirements under AASB 116, Valuation Services provided the Department of Treasury and 
Finance (DTF) with information that tracked the general movement in the market value of land and in the 
building construction costs from the 1 July 2006 (the date of valuation) to the 31 March 2007. DTF 
reviewed the information and determined that the valuations provided by Valuation Services (as at 1 July 
2006) were compliant with fair value requirements for 30 June 2007 reporting without further adjustment.

A restatement of the Land and Buildings revaluation for the financial year 2005/2006 has been 
implemented to correct an overstatement. Hypothetical Land and Building values supplied by the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) were utilised incorrectly. Management takes 
the view that fair value provides a more reliable and relevant determination. The fair values determined for 
the 2005/2006 financial year are as at 1 July 2005. The effect on the 2005/2006 financial year is to 
decrease the carrying amount of Land and Buildings and decrease the revaluation reserve in Equity by 
$47,382,000. There is no effect on any further prior year valuations. The error has been corrected by 
restating each of the affected financial statement line items for the prior year, as described above.

(b)
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2007 2006
$000 $000

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

22 Intangible assets

Computer software at cost 804 804
Accumulated amortisation (804) (643)

- 161

Carrying amount at start of year 161 322
Additions -                 -                   
Amortisation expense (161) (161)
Carrying amount at end of year - 161

23 Impairment of assets

24 Payables

GST payable to the Australian Taxation Office 3,652 2,194
Accrued expenses 12,330 15,599
Other 49 48

16,031 17,841

See also note 3(p) 'Payables' and note 34 'Financial Instruments'.

25 Provisions

Current

Annual leave 2,234 1,749
Long service leave 1,705 1,359
Employment on-costs 22 29

3,961 3,137

Non-current

Long service leave 1,013 1,087
Employment on-costs 10 10
Restoration costs 290 290

1,313 1,387

(a)

Within 12 months of balance sheet date 1,718 1,371
More than 12 months after balance sheet date 1,023 1,097

2,741 2,468

(b)

(c)

There were no indications of impairment of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets as at 30 June
2007.

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of
the liabilities will occur as follows:

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-
costs. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from
the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is included in note 12 'Other Expenses'."

The Department acquired an intractable waste facility at Mt Walton in April 2005. The facility was
transferred from the Department of Environment to resolve a conflict of interest. The Department has a
legal obligation to restore the site.

Intangible Assets Reconciliation:

(a)

(a)

(b)

(b)

(c)
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2007 2006
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

Movements in Provisions

Restoration costs provision
Carrying amount at start of year 290 290
Additional provisions recognised - -
Carrying amount at the end of year 290 290

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year 39 33
Additional provisions recognised 63 83
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (69) (77)
Carrying amount at the end of year 32 39

26 Other Payables

Invoices raised for services to be completed next financial year 14,004 10,514

Prepayments for construction work in progress
Progress billing 464,220 564,169
Contract costs incurred and recognised
profits less recognised losses (394,246) (502,261)

83,978 72,422

See also note 20  'Inventories'

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, 
are set out below.
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2007 2006
$000 $000

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

27 Equity

Contributed equity
Balance at start of the year 40,410 18,564

Contributions by owners
Capital contributions 21,000 4,176
Assets reclassified from Administered to Controlled - 25,060

21,000 29,236
Distributions to owners
Transfer of net assets to other agencies
  Transfers to Department of Planning and Infrastructure - (7,390)

- (7,390)

Balance at end of the year 61,410 40,410

(a)

(b)

(c)

Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve:

Balance at start of the year 36,084 26,674
Net revaluation increments 93,701 9,410
Balance at end of the year 129,785 36,084

Accumulated surplus

Balance at start of the year 168,701 157,976
Result for the period 24,188 10,725
Balance at the end of the year 192,889 168,701

Being transfer of vacant land and government properties from Administered to Controlled.

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The Government holds the equity
interest in the Department on behalf of the community. The assets revaluation reserve represents that portion of
equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Capital contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets from
other State Government agencies have been designated as contributions by owners in Treasurer's
Instruction TI 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' and are
credited directly to equity.

UIG 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' requires that the 
transferee accounts for a transfer as a contribution by owner, the transferor must account for the transfer as 
a distribution to owners. Consequently, non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets to other 
State Government Agencies are distribution to owners and are debited directly to equity.

(a)

(c)

(b)
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2007 2006
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

28 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents 62,881 49,887
Restricted cash and cash equvalents (refer to note 17) 16,645 2,125

79,526 52,012

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services (13,348) (25,173)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 6,735 4,199
Doubtful debts expense - (488)
Superannuation expense 731 803
Resources received free of charge 539 384

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (17,272) 12,810
Other current assets (3,465) (43,982)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables 8,068 (8,218)
Other payables 3,490 3,549
Provisions 750 565
Other current liabilities 13,614 35,845
Change in GST Liability 1,458 836

1,300 (18,870)

29 Commitments for expenditure

Lease commitments

Non-cancellable operating leases 4,112 5,774

Within 1 year 1,108 1,291
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,976 4,242
Payable later than five years 28 241

4,112 5,774

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the balance sheet date but not 
recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the
related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

30 Contingent Liabilities

Contaminated Sites

See also note 3(r)(ii) 'Provisions - Other' and note 25 'Provisions'.

31 Supplementary financial information

Write-Offs

32 Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

33 Remuneration of Auditor

115 128
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance 
indicators

During the financial year, $2,854 (2006: $252) was written off under the authority of the 
Accountable Authority.

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Department is required to report known and 
suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In 
accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, 
the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated - 
remediation required  or possibly contaminated - investigation required , the Department 
may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

During the year the Department reported one contaminated site to DEC. Whilst there is no 
possibility of reimbursement of any future expenses that may be incurred in the remediation of
this site, the Department may apply for funding from the Contaminated Sites Management 
Account to undertake further investigative work or to meet remediation costs that may be 
required.

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:

The remuneration for the Accountable Authority and Senior Officers of the 
Department has been disclosed within the Housing Authority annual report.
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34

Credit Risk

Liquidity Risk

Financial Instruments

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Cash flow interest rate risk

Interest Rate Risk Exposure

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, Treasurer's Advances, receivables and
payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department's overall risk management
program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

The Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place to
ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department's exposure to bad debts
is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-
interest bearing and have no borrowings other than the Treasurer's Advance (non-interest bearing).

The cash assets, receivables and payables are non-interest bearing.
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

2007 2006
Actual Actual Variation

$000 $000 $000
35 Explanatory statement

(a) Significant variations between actual and prior year actual

TOTAL APPROPRIATION TO DELIVER SERVICES
Net amount appropriated to deliver services 36,266 34,711 1,555

CAPITAL
Capital Contribution (appropriation) 21,000 4,176 16,824

ADMINISTERED
31,710 - 31,710

Details of Expenses by Service

715,162 564,527 150,635

Total revenues from ordinary activities (701,814) (539,354) (162,460)

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 27,654 7,852 19,802

DETAILS OF REVENUE ESTIMATES
Revenues disclosed as Administered Revenues 18,607 14,141 (4,466)

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as
presented in the financial statement titled 'Summary of Consolidated Account
Appropriations and Income Estimates' are shown below.

The increase in appropriation represents an increase in the Capital User Charge of
$1.174m and other various movements of $0.381m.

The increased funding of $16.824m in 2006/07 represents the capital contributions
for the upgrade of the Dumas House and Royal Street government owned buildings
and the construction of the Perth Arena.

The increase in Administered activity between the 2006 actual and the 2007 actual is
due to state funding for the Housing Authority now being included under the
umbrella of the Department.

Amount provided for Administered Grants, Subsidies and Other Transfer Payments

The increase is largely due to an increase in client turnover activity for managed
contracts on behalf of other government departments.

Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $1 million.

Delivery, management and maintenance of Government buildings, projects, and
office accommodation

The increase is largely due to an increase in client turnover activity for managed
contracts on behalf of other government departments.

Revenues received as Administered Income has increased due to market rent
conditions for tenancies.

The variance is largely due to the costs associated with the construction of the Perth
Arena.



78Department of Housing and Works  2 0 0 6 - 0 7  A n n u a l  R e p o r t
 © Department of Housing and Works 2007

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

2007 2007
Estimates Actual Variation

$000 $000 $000
(b) Significant variations between estimate and actual

TOTAL APPROPRIATION TO DELIVER SERVICES
Net amount appropriated to deliver services for the year 34,426 36,266 1,840

$000
Building WA Campaign 633
2006 CSA - Related wages outcome 407
140 William St Project 800

1,840

CAPITAL
Capital Contribution (appropriation) 30,450 21,000 (9,450)

Details of Expenses by Service
Total Cost of Services 761,648 715,162 (46,486)

Total revenues from ordinary activities (727,021) (701,814) (25,207)

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 30,450 27,654 (2,796)

DETAILS OF REVENUE ESTIMATES
Revenues disclosed as Administered Revenues 13,600 18,607 5,007

Details and reasons for significant variations between estimates and actual results are
shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% of
the estimate or $1million.

Various adjustments have been agreed to the appropriation to deliver services by
way of supplementary funding for:

The decrease in costs is mainly due to the level of managed contracts on behalf of
Government Departments being lower than expected.

Revenues received as Administered Income has increased due to market rent
conditions for tenancies.

The decrease in revenue is mainly due to the level of managed contracts on behalf of
Government Departments being lower than expected.

The decreased funding of $9.450m in 2006/2007 represents the decreased drawdown
of capital funding for the refurbishment programs for Dumas House in West Perth,
151 Royal Street in East Perth and the Perth Arena Project. The decrease in the
drawdown of capital funding was mainly due to the revised requirements to include
a car park design into the Perth Arena Project, resulting in a revised cash flow for
the project.

The variance is largely due to the revised requirements to include a car park design
into the Perth Arena Project, resulting in a revised cash flow for the project.
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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2007

2007 2006
$000 $000

36 Administered expenses and income
Expenses

Grants expense for capital purposes 31,710 -                 
Depreciation - -                 
Managed contracts expenses - 47
Net decrease in asset revaluation - -                 
Payments to government 18,607 14,141

Total administered expenses 50,317 14,188

Income
Rent 18,607 14,141
Administered grants 31,710 -                 

Total administered revenues 50,317 14,141

37 Administered assets and liabilities
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents assets 722 722
Total administered current assets 722 722

Non-current assets
Properties at fair value - -                 
Construction work in progress - -                 
Right to receive (a) 51,300 51,300

Total administered non-current assets 51,300 51,300

Total administered assets 52,022 52,022

Total administered net assets 52,022 52,022

(a) The asset recognised is the State Government's right to receive the
Perth Convention and Exhibition Centre in 35 years from when
construction was completed in 2003-04. This value has been
determined by depreciating the construction costs at 2% per annum
from completion date over 35 years, being the term of the lease.
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Western Australian Building Management Authority  2 0 0 6 - 0 7 	 A n n u a l 	 R e p o r t

Where we are  
Located

HEAD OFFICE
99	Plain	Street
East	Perth	6004	
Tel:	(08)	9222	4666
Toll	free:	1800	093	325

METROPOLITAN  
OFFICES
Mirrabooka 
6	Ilkeston	Place	
Mirrabooka	6061
Tel:	(08)	9344	0555

City Office
605	Wellington	St
Perth	6000	
Tel:	(08)	9476	2444

Midland
21	Old	Great	Northern	
Highway,	Midland	6056
Tel:	(08)	9250	9191

Cannington 
17	Manning	Road	
Cannington	6107
Tel:	(08)	9356	0444

Armadale
Unit	1
42	Commerce	Avenue	
Armadale	6112
Tel:	(08)	9497	1600

Bentley
Brownlie	Towers,	Shop	5
32	Dumond	Street		
Bentley	6102
Tel:	(08)	9350	3700

Fremantle
42	Queen	Street	
Fremantle	6160	
Tel:	(08)	9430	0300

Kwinana
Shop	13,	Hub	
Commercial	Centre,	
40	Meares	Avenue
Kwinana	6167
Tel:	(08)	9439	0300

Mandurah
11	Pinjarra	Road
Mandurah	6210	
Tel:	(08)	9535	5788

	
SOUTHERN
Albany
131	Aberdeen	Street	
Albany	6330
Tel:	(08)	9842	0444

Katanning
30	Richardson	Street
Katanning	6317
Tel:	(08)	9821	1822

Narrogin
Government	Building
Park	Street	
Narrogin	6312
Tel:	(08)	9881	1299

SOUTH WEST
Bunbury
22	Forrest	Avenue	
Bunbury	6230
Tel:	(08)		9792	2111

Busselton
Suite	4
8-10	Prince	Street
Busselton	6280
Tel:	(08)	9752	4388

Manjimup
Unit	10
30-32	Rose	Street
Manjimup	6258
Tel:	(08)	9771	1200

CENTRAL
Kalgoorlie
220	Hannan	Street
Kalgoorlie	6430
Tel:	(08)	9093	5200

Esperance
Balmoral	Square
The	Esplanade
Esperance	6450
Tel:	(08)	9071	2046

Merredin
44	Mitchell	Street
Merredin	6415
Tel:	(08)	9041	1744

Northam
McIver	House
297	Fitzgerald	Street
Northam	6401
Tel:	(08)	9622	1500

 
MID WEST /  
GASCOYNE
Geraldton
Union	Bank	Building
201	Marine	Terrace
Geraldton	6530	
Tel:	(08)	9923	4444

Carnarvon
30	Robinson	Street
Carnarvon	6701
Tel:	(08)	9941	1129

Meekatharra
Main	Street
Meekatharra	6642
Tel:	(08)	9981	1115

PILBARA
South Hedland 
Cnr	Brand	&	Tonkin	Sts	
South	Hedland	6721
Tel:	(08)	9172	0800

Karratha
3-5	Welcome	Road
Karratha	6714
Tel:	(08)	9144	1707

KIMBERLEY
Broome
Frederick	Street
Broome	6725
Tel:	(08)	9192	0100

Derby
Lot	265	Loch	Street
Derby	6728
Tel:	(08)	9191	1411

Halls Creek
Lot	73
Great	Northern	Hwy
Halls	Creek	6770
Tel:	(08)	9168	9300

Kununurra
Cnr	Messmate	Way	&	
Konkerberry	Drive
Kununurra	6743
Tel:	(08)	9168	1588

GOVERNMENT 
REGIONAL OFFICERS’ 
HOUSING (GROH)

Central	Office
203	Nicholson	Rd
Shenton	Park	6008	
Tel:	(08)	9286	6000
Fax	(08)	9286	6025
Toll	free:	1800	644	708
	
Goldfields
77A	Hannan	Street,	
Kalgoorlie	6430	
Tel:	(08)	9021	8107
Fax:	(08)	9091	1255
	
Karratha
5/16	Hedland	Place,	
Karratha	6714	
Tel:	(08)	9144	4213
Fax:	(08)	9185	3784
	
South	Hedland
Cnr	Tonkin	&	Brand	Sts	
South	Hedland	6722
Tel:	(08)	9140	2187
Fax	(08)	9140	2267

FREMANTLE	PRISON
The	Terrace,	
Fremantle	WA	6160
Tel:	(08)	9336	9200
Fax:	9430	7188
info@fremantleprison.com	
	
KEYSTART
Level	6,	
218	St	Georges	Terrace
Perth	6000
Tel:	(08)	9338	3100
Toll	Free:	1300	361	517
Country:	1800	199	050
Fax:	(08)	9338	3101
info@keystart.com.au

COUNTRY	HOUSING	
AUTHORITY
Suite	20A,	Hyatt	Centre
23	Plain	Street	
East	Perth	6004
Tel:	(08)	9325	8200
Freecall:	1800	158	200	
Fax:	(08)	9221	3126

	

TTY:		(08)	9476	2446	
	Translation	and	Interpreting	Service:	13	14	50	

www.dhw.wa.gov.au
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This	work	is	copyright.	It	may	be	reproduced	in	whole	or	in		part	for	study	or	training	purposes,	subject	
to	the	inclusion	of	an	acknowledgement	of	the	source.	It	may	not	be	reproduced	for	commercial	use	or	
sale.	Reproduction	for	purposes	other	than	those	indicated	above	requires	written	permission	from	the	
Department	of	Housing	and	Works.	
This	report	can	be	downloaded	from	the	Department’s	website:	www.dhw.wa.gov.au
This	annual	report	was	designed	and	produced	internally	using	Adobe	InDesignCS2.
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Western Australian Building Management Authority 8�

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
30 JUNE 2007

To the Hon Michelle 
Roberts MLA Minister 
for Housing and 
Works.

In accordance 
with Section 61 
of the Financial 
Management Act 
2006, I hereby submit 
for your information 
and presentation 
to Parliament, the 
Annual Report of the 
Western Australian 
Building Management 
Authority for the 
financial year ended 
30 June 2007.

The Annual Report 
has been prepared 
in accordance with 
the provisions of the 
Financial Management 
Act 2006. 

R. J. Mitchell
Director General

8�
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OVERVIEW 

The Western Australian Building Management Authority was established under the Public 
Works Act 1902 as a body corporate. The Authority is responsible for servicing borrowings 
dating from the Capital Works program of 1984-85 and the borrowings for the construction of 
the Peel Health Campus in 1996.

The Authority holds the residual borrowings from the amalgamation of the former Ministry of 
Housing and the Department of Contract and Management Services. Statutory requirements 
related to staffing and compliance with statutory reporting requirements, as well as the Public 
Sector Standards and Codes, have been integrated into the Department of Housing and 
Works’ annual report. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION

 To the Parliament of Western Australia 

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED �0 JUNE 2007 

I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators of the 
Western Australian Building Management Authority.

The financial statements comprise the Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2007, and the Income Statement, 
Statement of Changes in Equity and Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory Notes. 

The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.

Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance 
Indicators 

The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and the key 
performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and key performance 
indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances; and complying with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other relevant written 
law.

Summary of my Role 

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This was done by 
testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further information on my audit 
approach is provided in my audit practice statement. Refer “http://www.audit.wa.gov.au/pubs/Audit-
Practice-Statement.pdf”. 

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements and key 
performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises that an audit does 
not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit procedures should identify errors 
or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of users of the financial statements 
and key performance indicators.

85
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Western Australian Building Management Authority  
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended �0 June 2007

Audit Opinion 
In my opinion, 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

COLIN MURPHY  
AUDITOR GENERAL  
31 August 2007

the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the financial 
position of the Western Australian Building Management Authority at 30 June 2007 and 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions; 

the controls exercised by the Authority provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the 
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions; and 

the key performance indicators of the Authority are relevant and appropriate to help 
users assess the Authority’s performance and fairly represent the indicated performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2007.
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Western Australian Building Management Authority

Certification of Performance Indicators 

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, 
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the performance of 
the Western Australian Building Management Authority, and fairly represent 
the performance of the Western Australian Building Management Authority 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007.

R J MITCHELL 
DIRECTOR GENERAL 
ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY

31 August 2007
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Performance 
Indicators

Outcome: WABMA borrowings are serviced in accordance with the 
Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) repayment schedule.

The Western Australian Building Management Authority (WABMA) is a body 
corporate established under the Public Works Act 1902. WABMA is responsible 
for servicing borrowings dating from the 1984-85 Capital Works program and 
the 1996 borrowings for construction of the Peel Health Campus.

The previous output measures of the WABMA were transferred to the 
Department of Housing and Works on 1 July 2002, as the Department was 
made responsible for the procurement of the Government’s building works 
from 2002-03.

The Peel Health Campus loan repayment (that is, a cost to WABMA) has a 
revenue payment from the Health Department to balance the cost. The loan 
repayment has no effect on the cost of producing DHW services and therefore 
an efficiency indicator relating total cost per unit of output is not provided.

Similarly, the costs of servicing borrowings made during 1984 to 1987, to 
fund the State capital works building program, are excluded. These costs were 
covered by a direct appropriation from Treasury.

The balance of WATC loans as at June 30, 2007 is $115.9 million reducing from 
$126.2 million in 2005-06.

Western Australian Building Management Authority
88
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Effectiveness Indicator

The percentage of loan repayments made by the scheduled payment date specified in 
the Western Australian Treasury Corporation’s loan repayment schedule.  

This indicator provides information on how the WABMA is managing its borrowings by 
providing data on the timeliness in which the Authority makes its loan repayments in 
relation to borrowings for the 1984-85 Capital Works program and the Peel Health Campus as 
stipulated in the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) loan repayment schedule. It 
also shows whether all loans that should have been processed in relation to the financial year 
have been processed.

Effectiveness Indicator Target for 
2006-07

Actual for 
2006-07

Actual 
2005-06

Percentage of loan repayment transactions 
processed in accordance with the WATC loan 
repayment schedule.

100% 100% 100%
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WABMA Financial 
Statements

Certification of Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of the Western Australian Building Management 
Authority have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2007 and the financial position as at 30 
June 2007.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

_________________________

R. J. Mitchell 
Director General 
Accountable Authority

_________________________

R. Leslie 
Acting Chief Finance Officer

31 August 2007

Western Australian Building Management Authority  2 0 0 6 - 0 7 	 A n n u a l 	 R e p o r t 90
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Note
2007 2006

 $000 $000
   

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Finance costs 4 8,704 9,297
Supplies and services 5 16 16
Total cost of services 8,720 9,313

Income
Revenue
Interest revenue 6 4,183 4,376

Total revenue 4,183 4,376

Total income other than income from State Government 4,183 4,376

NET COST OF SERVICES 4,537 4,937

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 7
Service Appropriation 4,700 5,633

Total income from State Government 4,700 5,633

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 163 696

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



92Western Australian Building Management Authority  2 0 0 6 - 0 7 	 A n n u a l 	 R e p o r t
 © Department of Housing and Works 2007

Western Australian Building Management Authority  2 0 0 6 - 0 7 	 A n n u a l 	 R e p o r t

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

Note
2007 2006
$000 $000

   
ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12 809 911
Receivables 8 2,260 2,045
Total Current Assets 3,069 2,956

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 8 39,185 41,445
Total Non-Current Assets 39,185 41,445

TOTAL ASSETS 42,254 44,401

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 9 17 16
Borrowings 10 10,740 11,312
Total Current Liabilities 10,757 11,328

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 10 105,250 114,889
Total Non-Current Liabilities 105,250 114,889

Total Liabilities 116,007 126,217

NET LIABILITIES (73,753) (81,816)

EQUITY

Contributed equity 11 12,387 4,487
Accumulated deficit 11 (86,140) (86,303)

TOTAL EQUITY (73,753) (81,816)

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Note
2007 2006
$000 $000

Balance of Equity at start of period (81,816) (90,491)

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 11
Balance at start of period 4,487 (3,139)
Capital contribution 7,900 7,626
Balance at end of period 12,387 4,487

ACCUMULATED DEFICIT 11
Balance at start of period (86,303) (87,352)
Surplus for the period 163 696
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 -              353
Balance at end of period (86,140) (86,303)

Balance of equity at end of the period (73,753) (81,816)

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2007 2006

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Note

$000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 4,700 5,633
Capital contributions 7,900 7,626
Net cash provided by State Government 12,600 13,259

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Finance costs (8,769) (9,741)
Supplies and Services (14) -

Receipts
Interest received 4,183 4,433
Net cash used in operating activities 12 (4,600) (5,308)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings 2,045 1,796
Repayment of borrowings (10,147) (9,700)
Net cash used in financing activities (8,102) (7,904)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (102) 47

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 911 864

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
THE END OF PERIOD 12 809 911

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

1. Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

The Authority’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2007 have been prepared in accordance
with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), which comprise a 
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the Framework) and 
Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations).

In preparing these financial statements the Authority has adopted, where relevant to its operations, new 
and revised Standards and Interpretations from their operative dates as issued by the AASB and
formerly the Urgent Issues Group (UIG). 

Early adoption of standards 

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards
and Other Pronouncements’.  No Standards and Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are 
not yet effective have been early adopted by the Authority for the annual reporting period ended 30 June
2007.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) General Statement

The financial statements constitute a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as
applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to
vary application, disclosure, format and working.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework,
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board.

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. 

(b) Basis of  Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($'000).

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed at note 3 ‘Key sources of estimation
uncertainty’.

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the Western Australian Building Management Authority.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

(d) Contributed Equity

UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owners)
as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as 
equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by
owners by Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public 
Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

(e) Income 

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  Revenue is recognised for
the major business activities as follows:

Service Appropriations 
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value in the period in which the Authority
gains control of the appropriated funds. The Authority gains control of appropriated funds at the time 
those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the holding account held at Treasury. (See
note 7 ‘Income from State Government’).

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

(f) Leases 

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as 
assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value
of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. Minimum lease payments are 
apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according
to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

The Western Australian Building Management Authority (WABMA) completed construction of the
Peel Health Campus in 1998–1999. WABMA funded the project from borrowings through the Western
Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC).

The fully operational Peel Health Campus is leased to a private health services provider.  WABMA
reports this asset as a lease receivable.  The Department of Treasury and Finance ultimately intends to 
take over this lease receivable.

WABMA, as a lessor, has entered into a finance lease for the use of the Peel Health campus facility.
WABMA’s rights and obligations under finance leases, which are leases that effectively transfer to the 
lessee substantially the entire risks and benefits incident to ownership of the leased items, are initially
recognised as a lease receivable asset equal to the cost of constructing Peel Health Campus (see note 
8).

The lease receivable asset is allocated between current and non-current components. The finance
revenue resulting from the lease is allocated between interest revenue and reduction of the lease
receivable, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

(g) Financial Instruments

The Authority has two categories of financial instrument:
 Loans and receivables (cash and cash equivalents, receivables); and
 Non-trading financial liabilities (payables).

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value, which normally equates to
the transaction cost or the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of
discounting is not material.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

(h) Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents assets comprise cash on hand
and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts.

(i) Receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any
uncollectible amounts. The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any
receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off. The allowance for uncollectible amounts
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect 
the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

(j) Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes obliged to make future
payments as a result of a purchase of assets, services or repayment of loans. The carrying amount is
equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days. 

(k) Borrowings

All loans are initially recognised at cost, being fair value of the net proceeds received. Subsequent
measurement is at amortised cost using effective interest rate method. See note 2(g) ‘Financial
Instruments’ and note 10 ‘Borrowings’.

Borrowings arranged through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) were to meet
funding for Capital Works programs (1984–1987 financial years) and to provide funding for
construction of the Peel Health campus. 

The 1984–1987 borrowings were initially matched in the statement of financial position with building
assets that the Western Australian Building Management Authority (WABMA) had procured. These 
buildings are no longer controlled by WABMA and were written-back in the 1995–1996 financial year
resulting in an abnormal loss of $156 million in that year. WABMA is now carrying an equity deficit
that is diminishing each year as the borrowing is repaid.

The Peel Health Campus borrowings were restructured on 15 June 2001 by agreement between
WABMA and WATC. No change to WABMA’s liability for the Peel Health campus borrowings
occurred. The loan repayment schedule and the maturity date were altered to better match with the
primary revenue stream associated with the leasing of Peel Health Campus.

The Department of Treasury and Finance ultimately intends to take over both of these facilities. 

(l) Comparative Figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in
the current financial year.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards
and Other Pronouncements’. Consequently, the Authority has not applied the following Australian 
Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective.
These will be applied from their application date:

1. AASB 7 ‘ Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (including consequential amendments 
in AASB 2005-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132,
AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, 
AASB 1023 and AASB 1038]’).  This Standard requires new disclosures in relation
to financial instruments.  The Standard is considered to result in increased
disclosures, both quantitative and qualitative of the Authority’s exposure to risks, 
enhanced disclosure regarding components of the Authority’s financial position and
performance, and possible changes to the way of presenting certain items in the
financial statements, but otherwise there is no financial impact. The standard is
required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2007.

2. AASB 2005-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 132, 
AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, 
AASB 1023 & AASB 1038)’. The amendments are as a result of the issue of AASB
7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, which amends the financial instrument 
disclosure requirements in these standards. The Authority does not expect any
financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be 
applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

3. AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. This Standard was revised and
issued in October 2006 so that AASB 101 has the same requirements as IAS 1
‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (as issued by the IASB) in respect of for-
profit entities. The Authority is a not-for-profit entity and consequently does not 
expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is
required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2007.

4. AASB 2007-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from ED
151 and Other Amendments (AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 102, 107, 108, 110, 112, 114,
116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138,
139, 141, 1023 & 1038)’. This Standard introduces policy options and modifies
disclosures. These amendments arise as a result of the AASB decision that, in
principle, all options that currently exist under IFRSs should be included in the 
Australian equivalents to IFRSs and additional Australian disclosures should be
eliminated, other than those now considered particularly relevant in the Australian
reporting environment. The Department of Treasury and Finance has indicated that
it will mandate to remove the policy options added by this amending Standard. This
will result in no impact as a consequence of application of the Standard. The
Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
July 2007.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

2007 2006
$000 $000

4 Finance costs

Interest on 1984 - 1987 borrowings 4,736 5,373
Interest on Peel Health Campus borrowings 3,968 3,924

8,704 9,297
(See note 10 and note 2k)

5 Supplies and services

Accrued Audit Fees 16 16

6 Interest revenue

4,183 4,376

7 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriation 4,700 5,633

Interest on lease payments in respect of Peel Health Campus
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

2007 2006
$000 $000

8 Receivables

Leases

Current 2,260 2,045
Non-current 39,185 41,445

Total Lease Receivables 41,445 43,490

(a) Terms and conditions

(b)

6,070 6,070

18,972 18,973

16,403 18,447
41,445 43,490

25,563 29,747

67,008 73,237
(i) Discounting is at implicit interest rate of lease.

Finance lease commitments

Minimum lease payments receivable not later than one year

Minimum lease payments receivable later than five years

Minimum lease payments receivable

Discounting of lease receivable

Minimum lease payments receivable later than one year and not 
later than five years

Gross investment in lease receivable as at 30 June 

The lease was initially valued at $55.9 million and the lease term 
is 20 years commencing on 13 August 1998.  There is no 
unguaranteed residual value associated with the lease.  Payments 
are received quarterly.

Leases receivable represents the investment in a direct finance 
lease of the Peel Health Campus, net of unearned revenue, and is 
allocated between current and non-current elements. The 
principal component of the lease rental due within one year is 
shown as current and the remainder as non-current.

(i)
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

2007 2006
$000 $000

9 Payables

Accrued audit fees 17 16
17 16

10 Borrowings

1984 - 1987 borrowings 285,074 285,074
Less: Repayments of borrowings (213,219) (205,269)

71,855 79,805

Peel Health Campus borrowings 55,923 55,923
Less: Repayments of borrowings (11,788) (9,527)

44,135 46,396

Total borrowings 115,990 126,201

Current 10,740 11,312
Non-current 105,250 114,889

Total borrowings 115,990 126,201

(i) Significant Terms and Conditions
1984 - 1987 borrowings Peel borrowings

Nature of borrowings debt portfolio

Composition short and long stock lines single loan contract
Face value
Premium n/a
Date of maturity
Interest rate variable
Interest repayment schedule quarterly quarterly
Capital repayment schedule quarterly fixed amounts quarterly compounding
Repricing dates monthly n/a
Guaranteed by the Treasurer yes yes
Readily traded on organised markets yes no

fixed principal and interest 
repayments

15/08/201815/10/2017
8.621%

$55,500,000
$422,910

$285,074,300

WABMA has two separate borrowings through the WA Treasury 
Corporation:
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

2007 2006
$000 $000

(ii) Interest Rate Risk Exposure

Carrying amounts of financial liabilites exposed to interest rate risk
1 year or less 30,686 33,625
1 to 5 years 29,147 32,230
Over 5 years 12,022 13,950
Total borrowings with interest rate risk 71,855 79,805

The weighted average effective interest rates are:

2006 2007
% %

1984 - 1987 borrowings: 6.98 6.19
Peel Health Campus borrowings: 8.075 9.02

11 Equity

Contributed Equity
Balance at start of year 4,487 (3,139)

Contributions by owners
Capital Contribution 7,900 7,626
Balance at end of year 12,387 4,487

Accumulated deficit
Balance at start of year (86,303) (87,352)
Result for the period 163 696
Adjustments on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 -                      353
Balance at end of year (86,140) (86,303)

WABMA's exposure to interest rate risk and repricing maturities 
on its borrowings as at 30 June 2007 are:

(a) Capital Contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net 
assets from other State Government agencies have been designated as contributions by owners in 
Treasurer's Instruction TI 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities' and are credited directly to equity. 

Liabilities exceed assets for the Authority and there is therefore no residual interest in the assets of 
the Authority. The deficiency arose from the construction and deployment of assets to other 
Government agencies while the Authority retained the undertaking to service the financial costs of 
that construction activity.

(a)
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

2007 2006
$000 $000

12 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents 809 911

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities

Net cost of services (4,537) (4,937)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables - (220)
Unearned revenues - (139)
Current Liabilities - (12)
Non-Current Liabilities (63) -

Net cash used in operating activities (4,600) (5,308)

13 Remuneration of Auditor

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 17 16

14 Financial instruments

(a) Interest rate risk exposure

(b) Credit risk exposure

(c) Liquidity risk exposure

15 Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers

WABMA has an exposure to interest rate risk on its borrowings as disclosed in note 10. The 
Authority does not use hedge instruments to manage interest rate risk. WABMA has no exposure 
to interest rate risk on its other financial assets and liabilities.

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow 
Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as 
follows:

WABMA's liquidity risk exposure is effectively managed by ensuring that service appropriations 
and capital contributions sought from the State Government are sufficient to meet repayments 
and servicing of it's borrowings.

The remuneration for the Accountable Authority and Senior Officers of the Western Australian 
Building Management Authority has been disclosed within the Housing Authority annual report.

The carrying amount of lease receivables recorded in the financial statements, net of any 
provisions for losses, represents WABMA's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking 
account of the value of any collateral or other security obtained. These amounts are owing from a 
single debtor.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.
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